Sutton Shareholdings Board
4 January 2017
6.30 pm at the



Civic Offices, St Nicholas Way, Sutton SM1 1EA

To all members of the Sutton Shareholdings Board:Chair:
Vice-Chair
Councillors:

Councillor Simon Wales
Councillor Jayne McCoy
Neil Garratt, Sunita Gordon and Daniel Sangster

Substitutes:

This is a Council meeting held in public. Additional representations are at the invitation of the Chair
of the Committee. If you are a relevant organisation and you wish to submit representations on a
proposal contained within the reports to this agenda please submit a request via Committee
Services three working days before the meeting date.
This meeting will be recorded and made available on the Council’s website.
PLEASE NOTE: Any decision taken at this meeting does not become definitive until 10am on the
third working day after the meeting. Any four members of the Council may notify the Chief
Executive by then if they require a decision to be reviewed by the appropriate committee at its next
meeting. Please contact the Committee Services representative shown on the front page for
further information.

Niall Bolger
Chief Executive
20 December 2016

Enquiries to: Alexa Coates, Head of Committee and Management Support
Tel: 020 8770 5094 | Email: alexa.coates@sutton.gov.uk
Copies of reports are available in large print on request

AGENDA

1.

Apologies for absence

2.

Declarations of Interest

3.

Any Items the Chair deems urgent

4.

Minutes

1-4

To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 8 November
2016.
5.

Appointment of Opportunity Sutton Ltd Company Director

5-6

This report presents for approval the appointment of a new Director of
Opportunity Sutton Limited.
6.

Sutton Living Performance Update

7 - 10

This report presents for comment the performance update for Sutton Living
Limited.
7.

Sutton Living Limited - Business Plan Update

11 - 26

This report presents proposed amendments to the assumptions in the Sutton
Living Ltd Business Plan, prior to submission of a revised business plan to the
Sutton Shareholdings Board meeting on 8th March 2017.
8.

SDEN Performance update

27 - 32

This report is presented for noting the update contained in the Sutton
Decentralised Energy Network Performance Report. The Risk Register for
Sutton Decentralised Energy Network Limited does not include any amends
since the previous meeting in November.
9.

Encompass Digital Innovation Services

33 - 36

Under matters reserved to the Sutton Shareholding Board Encompass LATC
Ltd is required to seek authority when it delivers services that are not ancillary
to its core business. This report asks for authority to start the commercial
delivery of Digital Innovation packages designed and developed by
Encompass LATC Ltd.
10.

Sutton Education Services Limited - Launch update & resolutions
agreement
To update on the company launch and to agree the articles of association.

11.

Exclusion of the Public and Press
The following motion should be moved, seconded and approved if the

37 - 70

committee wishes to exclude the press and public to deal with reports
revealing exempt information:
“That the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt
information as defined in paragraph 1-7 of Schedule 12A of the Local
Government Act 1972.”

This page is intentionally left blank

CIVIC OFFICES, SUTTON
GROUND FLOOR MEETING ROOMS
FIRE PRECAUTIONS
If there is a FIRE in the building the fire alarm will sound. Leave the building
immediately by the most direct route, either back through reception or the fire exit
into Lower Square. Take your coat and any bags with you. Assemble in the car
park in front of the Holiday Inn.

Toilet

Toilet
Room 1

Toilet

Toilet

Reception

Room
5

Room
4

Fire
Exit

Room
2

Room
3

Entrance
Lower Square

Exit

Holiday Inn
Car Park

Reminder – Declarations of Interests
Members should consider the following interests and whether they have any they
should declare.
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
Where you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any business of the Authority at
this meeting and you have either declared it beforehand in the Register of Members’
Interests or to the Monitoring Officer for entry in the Register you must state at this
meeting that you have such an interest and then withdraw from the room or chamber
where the meeting is being held whilst that business is considered.
Where you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any business of the Authority at
this meeting and have not previously declared it you must declare the nature of that
interest at this meeting and then withdraw from the room or chamber where the
meeting is being held whilst that business is considered.
Other Pecuniary and Non-Pecuniary Interests
Where you have any other pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest in any business at
this meeting you must declare that interest, but may continue to speak and vote on
the matter. However, if the interest is one which a member of the public, with
knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably regard as so significant that it is
likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest then you should declare the
interest and withdraw from the room or chamber where the meeting is being held
whilst that business is considered.
Further information on these matters can be found in the Council's Code of Conduct
and Constitution. If you are in any doubt as to whether you have an interest you
should seek advice before the committee meeting from Alexa Coates.
If, during the course of the committee meeting, you consider you may have an
interest you should always declare it.

Page 1

Agenda Item 4
Sutton Shareholdings Board
8 November 2016

SUTTON SHAREHOLDINGS BOARD
8 November 2016 at 6.30 pm
MEMBERS:

9.

Councillor Simon Wales (Chair), Councillor Jayne McCoy (ViceChair) and Councillors Neil Garratt, Sunita Gordon and
Daniel Sangster

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

There were no apologies for absence.
10.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.
11.

ANY ITEMS THE CHAIR DEEMS URGENT

There were no urgent items.
12.

MINUTES

The minutes of the meeting held on 22 June 2016 were approved as a correct
record and signed by the Chair.
13.

AMENDMENT TO ACCOUNTING PERIOD

The Director of Opportunity Sutton Ltd introduced a report to note and ratify the
amendment of the accounting period dates for Opportunity Sutton Limited (OSL),
including the two subsidiary companies Sutton Living Limited (SLL) & Sutton
Decentralised Energy Network (SDEN), and Encompass.
Resolved
That the amendment of the accounting period dates to 1 April to 31 March for
Opportunity Sutton Limited (OSL), Sutton Living Limited (SLL), Sutton Decentralised
Energy Network (SDEN) and Encompass, be noted and ratified.
14.

ENCOMPASS PAY AND REWARD SCHEME

The Managing Director of Encompass introduced the report and clarified the TUPE
arrangements in relation to the pension scheme and that new employers would be
part of a new private pension scheme.
Resolved
That the Encompass Pay and Reward Scheme be approved.

1

Agenda Item 4

Page 2

Sutton Shareholdings Board
8 November 2016

15.

CONTRACTING OUT OF HOMELESSNESS SECTION 202 REVIEWS

The Managing Director of Encompass introduced the report, clarifying that the
procurement process had been conducted whilst the service was part of the Council,
this report was to ensure Encompass had the appropriate authority to contract out
the reviews.
Members asked how the transitions arrangements were going for Encompass, and
the Managing Director indicated that a performance update would be provided to the
next meeting.
Resolved
Approve the partial contracting out of the Homelessness Reviews function to
Housing Reviews Ltd. The services to be provided by the company being limited to
the discharge of the duty under Section 202 Housing Act 1996, as amended, by
making and detailing all relevant enquiries, writing review decision letters for
approval, and adhering to the requirements as set out in Regulation 8.
16.

SUTTON LIVING - PERFORMANCE UPDATE

The Director of Sutton Living introduced the report. Members were assured that
Sutton LIving would provide business cases for any sites referred by the Council's
asset management service.
Resolved
That the performance update report be noted.
17.

APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTOR OF SUTTON LIVING LIMITED

The Director of Sutton Living presented the report. Members questioned the days
per week needed in the role and were updated that this would be reviewed next
year, and that more days per week may be needed depending on how development
of sites progressed. Members requested a synopsis of Mike Kirk’s experience and
requested a copy of the recruitment brief which the Director of Sutton Living
committed to circulate to members of the shareholdings board. The Director of
Sutton LIving outlined the need to separate the functions of the Directors (to appoint
officers of the company) and the Shareholdings Board to confirm the appointment of
Directors.
Resolved
That the appointment of Mike Kirk as a Director of Sutton Living Limited be
approved.
18.

SDEN PERFORMANCE UPDATE

The Director of SDEN introduced the report. Members requested an update on
negotiations with Barratts and were assured that progress was being made,
specifically on the pricing policy. The committee were advised that Barratts had been
2

Page 3

Agenda Item 4
Sutton Shareholdings Board
8 November 2016

focused on the planning process for the development. In addition, members
requested an update on the procurement process and were advised that this had
been completed subject to final clarification on tenders and progress on crossing
railway lines and were advised that agreement with network rail was close and no
issues were anticipated.
Resolved
1. That the performance update set out in Appendix A of the report be noted.
2. That the un-amended SDEN Risk Register set out in Appendix B (exempt) of
the report be noted.

The meeting ended at 7.02 pm
Chair:
Date:

3

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 5

Agenda Item 5

Report to:

Sutton Shareholdings Board

Report title:

Appointment of Director of Opportunity Sutton Limited

Report from:
Ward/Areas affected:

Mary Morrissey, Strategic Director Environment, Housing and
Regeneration
Borough Wide

Chair of Committee/Lead
Member:
Author(s)/Contact
Number(s):

Councillor Simon Wales, Chair of Sutton Shareholdings Board and
Councillor Jayne McCoy, Chair of Housing, Economy and Business
Mary Morrissey  Managing Director, Opportunity Sutton Limited
Phil Butlin  Director, Opportunity Sutton Limited

Corporate Plan Priorities:

●
●
●
●
Open

Open/Exempt:

Date:

4 January 2017

An Open Council
A Green Council
A Fair Council
A Smart Council

Signed:

Date:

20 December 2016

1.

Summary

1.1

This report presents for approval the appointment of a new Director of Opportunity
Sutton Limited.

2.

Recommendations

The Sutton Shareholdings Board is recommended to
2.1

Approve the appointment of Ade Adebayo as a Director of Opportunity Sutton Limited.

3.

Background

3.1

Following the departure of a previous Director of Opportunity Sutton Limited (Eleanor
Purser), steps have been taken to recruit a new postholder.

3.2

As the appointment of Company Directors is a matter reserved to the Council as
shareholder, the approval of the Shareholding Board is now sought. Subject to
approval, Opportunity Sutton Limited will inform Companies House of the appointment
of Ade Adebayo as a Director.

4.

Impacts and Implications
Financial

Agenda Item 5

4.1

Page 6

There are no cost implications to this appointment.
Legal

4.2

The appointment of company directors is reserved to the Council’s Shareholder Board
as a reserved matter.

5.

Appendices and Background Documents

Appendix Letter
None

Title

Background Documents
None

Audit Trail
Version

Final

Consultation with other officers
Officer
Comments Sought
Finance
Yes
Legal
Yes

Date: 20 December 2016

Comments checked by
Phil Butlin
Paul Evans

Page 7

Agenda Item 6

Report to:

Sutton Shareholdings Board

Report title:

Sutton Living Limited Performance Update

Report from:

Mary Morrissey, Strategic Director of Environment, Housing and
Regeneration

Ward/Areas affected:

Borough Wide

Chair of Committee/Lead
Member:

Councillor Simon Wales, Chair of Opportunity Sutton Limited
SubCommittee and Councillor Jayne McCoy, Chair of Housing,
Economy and Business
Simon Latham, Director, Sutton Living Ltd, 020 8770 4006

Author(s)/Contact
Number(s):
Corporate Plan Priorities:

Open/Exempt:

Date:

4 January 2017

● An Open Council
● A Green Council
● A Fair Council
● A Smart Council
Open with the exception of Appendix A (Sutton Living Risk Register)
which is exempt by virtue of paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local
Government Act 1972.

Signed:

Date:

19 December 2016

1.

Summary

1.1

This report presents for comment the performance update for Sutton Living Limited.

2.

Recommendations

The Sutton Shareholdings Board is recommended to
2.1

Note the performance update set out in section 3 of this report.

3.

Performance update

3.1

Progress and outputs include:

Agenda Item 6

Page 8

●

Exchange of contracts for the acquisition of Lodge Place, Sutton, is estimated to
take place shortly. Consultation with local stakeholders will follow, ahead of the
Planning application being submitted.

●

Sutton Living is proposing a revised scheme for the Wallington Public hall site, in
view of its constraints, which is being discussed with the Council's Asset
Management team before further preapplication discussions take place with
Development Management. Access and refuse collection arrangements are being
discussed with Highways. As previously advised, the likely legal structure will
comprise ongoing Council ownership of the freehold interest and a long lease of the
site to Sutton Living Ltd to develop retail and residential property elements.
Consultation with local stakeholders will follow, ahead of the Planning application
being submitted.

●

Strategy and Resources Committee agreed to Sutton Living being given the first
opportunity to provide more detailed proposals for the conversion and refurbishment
of a number of Councilowned asset and work is now underway to carry out
valuations and costings to support scheme viability appraisals.

3.2

The Company has no financial performance to report at this stage, having yet to draw
down any loan finance or working capital for either the acquisition or development
programmes. Costs of early consultancy tasks are being met by the Council and will
be recharged to the company before the end of the financial year.

3.3

The risk register is a confidential appendix to this report.

4.

Impacts and Implications
Financial

4.1

There are no direct financial implications.
Legal

4.2

There are no direct legal implications.

5.

Appendices and Background Documents

Appendix Letter
A

Title
Sutton Living Risk Register  exempt by virtue of paragraph 3 of
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

Page 9

Agenda Item 6

Background Documents
None

Audit Trail
Version

1

Consultation with other officers
Officer
Finance
Legal

Date: 08 December 2016

Comments Sought
Yes
Yes

Comments checked by
Sue Hogg
Paul Evans

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 11

Report to:
Report title:
Report from:
Ward/Areas affected:
Chair of Committee/Lead
Member:
Author(s)/Contact
Number(s):
Corporate Plan Priorities:

Open/Exempt:

Agenda Item 7

Sutton Shareholdings Board

Date:

4 January
2017
Sutton Living Limited Review of Business Plan Assumptions
Mary Morrissey, Mary Morrissey, Strategic Director of
Environment, Housing and Regeneration
Borough Wide
Councillor Simon Wales, Chair of Opportunity Sutton Limited
SubCommittee and Councillor Jayne McCoy, Chair of
Housing, Economy and Business
Mike Kirk, Interim Managing Director, Sutton Living Ltd, 020
8770 4922
● An Open Council
● A Green Council
● A Fair Council
● A Smart Council
Open

Signed:

Date:

19 December 2016

1.

Summary

1.1

This report presents proposed amendments to the assumptions in the Sutton
Living Ltd Business Plan , prior to submission of a revised business plan to the
Sutton Shareholdings Board meeting on 8th March 2017.

2.

Recommendations

The Sutton Shareholdings Board is recommended to:
2.1

Note and approve the proposed amendments, summarised in Appendix 1 of the
attached report from Sutton Living Ltd.

3.

Background

3.1

The report from Sutton Living Limited's Managing Director recommends the
streamlining of development assumptions for the development of schemes by
Sutton Living Limited, based upon commonly agreed industry standards. It also

Page 12

Agenda Item 7

proposes amendments to the rent assumptions in the company’s business plan to
reflect the recently published Mayor of London’s affordable housing programme
which has new definitions of affordable and intermediate rent, the latter now
known as London Living Rent.
3.2

The updated Business Plan itself will be presented to the meeting of the Sutton
Shareholdings Board on 8th March, alongside an annual review of activity since
February 2016.

4.

Impacts and Implications
Financial

4.1

The proposed amendment to the assumptions contained within the business plan
will ensure that the financial appraisals undertaken for each potential investment
are more robust and in line with the current market conditions.
Legal

4.2

5.

There are no significant legal implications

Appendices and Background Documents

Appendix Letter
A

Title
Review of Business Plan
Assumptions

Background Documents
None

Audit Trail
Version

Final

Consultation with other officers
Officer
Finance
Legal

Date: 08
December 2016

Comments Sought
Yes
Yes

Comments
checked by
Sue Hogg
Paul Evans

Page 13

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

Sutton Living Limited
Review of Business Plan Assumptions
Sutton Shareholdings Board
4th January 2017

Review of Business Plan Assumptions Sutton Living Limited
1.0.

Summary

1.1

In February 2016, the Sutton Shareholdings Board agreed a Revised
Business Plan which set out a number of development assumptions relating to
rents, the development process, and rates of return. The intention is that these
assumptions will be reviewed annually in association with a review of the
company’s business plan

1.2

It is proposed to undertake a two stage review in 2017, firstly, to review the
business plan assumptions, which is the subject of this report, and secondly, to
review the Sutton Living Business Plan for the 8th March meeting of the Sutton
Shareholdings Board.

1.3

This report recommends a streamlining of the development assumptions used
in order to concentrate on key areas relating to scheme viability, and use
industry accepted standards to avoid the need of the Shareholding Board’s
approval of individual assumptions each year to ensure the company remains
competitive and responsive in the market place.

Sutton Living Limited Review of Business Plan Assumptions

December 19, 2016

Agenda Item 7

Page 14
Appendix A

2.0

Background to February 2016 report

2.1

The assumptions are set in para. 3 onwards in this report and summarised in
Appendix 1

2.2

The Business Plan Model assumed the delivery of 250 dwellings specifying the
numbers to be market sales, market rent, affordable rent and shared ownership.
The Business Plan itself assumed 225 dwellings in ownership after market sales
through development of Council and privately purchased land as well as “off the
shelf” acquisitions from private developers. Each development opportunity would
be the subject of a development appraisal seeking set returns. It was assumed
that some of the appraisals would have negative outcomes but that schemes in
total would balance or outweigh any negative ones so creating an internal
subsidy for future developments.

2.3

It was recognised that operating a development company was a high risk
operation and that a risk register would accompany each project and a
programme register would be reported regularly to the OSL Board and Sutton
Shareholdings Board. An update in the Programme Risk Register will be
reported to 8th March meeting of the Sutton Shareholdings Board.

2.4

The starting point for the Business Plan were the financial assumptions
prepared by Grant Thornton using illustrative schemes and various funding
assumptions. These are set out as the “Core Assumptions”. It should be noted
that as Sutton Living Limited is 100% owned by the Council the company will
be funded by the Council from its own borrowing and other resources. The
Council’s own funding assumptions are not considered as part of this report
but similarly require annual review.

3.0

Core Assumptions

3.1

These were set having regard to prevailing market conditions and industry
wide norms, although further consideration has been that these are too
specific and should be more generic;
(i) Opening year of the model – year 1 being 2015/16, and for a term of 50
years based on cash flows (including initial 5 year development period). This
might imply that, taking away the initial development period, a scheme has
to repay between 4550 years. Normally the appraisal model would have an
initial development period followed by a timescale during which the scheme
is expected to repay. A repayment period of around 50 years would equate
to the norm for many Registered Providers (RPs or Housing Associations)
with the assumption that several schemes would payback in a shorter period
so allowing for some strategic important projects to take a take slightly

Sutton Living Limited Review of Business Plan Assumptions

December 19, 2016

Page 15

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

longer assumed to be in line with the CPI, they were assumed to cancel
each other period (noting para.2.1 above).
(ii) Inflation – the Model currently assumes 2% based upon the Consumer
Price index (CPI). It is proposed that this figure will be reviewed annually, as
will the impact on those on how rents are set.
(iii) Real growth –where all increases/decreases in costs and income are
excluded, except if rents and service charges were for example assumed to
increase say 1% above the rate of inflation as this would have the effect of
improving scheme viability over time. The level of rents charged has to
reflect local market conditions (and these should be established at both
borough level and individual post codes). The effect of the recently
announced London Living Rent, and the difference between this and the
Local Housing Allowance, will need to be considered as part of the
affordable element of schemes.
(iv) Property growth – the Model assumed property inflation at 3% (CPI+1%),
and was assumed only to have a positive impact on the cash flow on future
staircasing of shared ownership sales. This property inflation figure is an
underestimate of current house price inflation in Sutton (in the 12 month
period from September 2015 to September 2016 the average selling price
of property increased by 13%  Source home.co.uk/guide house prices
–Sutton). Property price inflation can have a positive impact on scheme
viability, for instance, where retained rental properties increase in value over
time, they provide the option of introducing or increasing sales to reduce the
loan, or allow an existing loan to be renegotiated. It is proposed that the
development model should allow for at least a 3% property growth on all
units (a figure to be reviewed annually at Borough and post code level) with
a five yearly review on each developed scheme where appropriate to test
current scheme viability levels.
(v)

Voids/bad debts – this was assumed at 4% for affordable rent and shared
ownership and 6% for market rented. The figure for market rent is unduly
pessimistic and it is important that Sutton Living and its agents see itself as
a commercial operation minimising voids, bad debts and rent loss. It is
therefore proposed to use a standard figure of 4%. The figure set for
following years schemes could be based on the current year’s performance,
thus giving an incentive to minimise this figure otherwise it will impact on
scheme viability

(vi)

Management & maintenance costs  these were assumed as £1100 per
dwelling for affordable and market rent, and £500 per shared ownership
dwelling. This is now likely to be an underestimate of costs which could be
in the order of £1000 for management costs and £600 for maintenance, but

Sutton Living Limited Review of Business Plan Assumptions

December 19, 2016

Agenda Item 7

Page 16
Appendix A

actual management costs would be agreed with the managing agent prior to
letting, and these would be applied to new schemes probably in the form of
a letting fee. Rather than set a defined figure, it is proposed to cap these for
business planning purposes at £2000 for both and if actual costs are greater
than this, the Shareholdings Board will be provided with an explanation of
why this figure has been exceeded
(vii)

Lifecycle allowances – there is also currently an assumption of £1100 per
dwelling for major elemental repairs and start in the 6 year after practical
completion of the scheme (which is the RP norm). This also assumes that
property defects insurance is also taken out before practical completion of
the project. The actual rate of lifecycle allowances will depend on the
dwelling size and an average rate would currently be in the region of £1222
per dwelling from year 6. In addition, a major repairs sinking fund would be
put in place, and a sinking fund to replace individual items such as lifts.
Items such as lift replacement will be charged to occupiers in the form of a
service charge, so it is important to closely review the design of the scheme
to ensure that capital replacement items are reduced to a minimum. In
considering Lifecycle and other costs the Shareholdings Board needs to be
aware that provision has been put in place with an explanation of the
rationale of the level of costs, rather than approve actual amounts set aside.
A more detailed explanation will always be provided if these costs are
greater than £2000 per annum.

(viii) Set up costs – an appropriate amount needs to be set aside for staffing,
accommodation and other central overheads, and money to undertake
feasibilities and project development at risk prior to individual project
approval. This sum should also include an amount for abortive costs where
schemes do not proceed.
(ix)

Interest costs on borrowing – this is based on money lent by the Council
through the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) rate plus a margin to satisfy
“State Aid rules”. The margin needs to be high enough to avoid claims of
“unfair” competition by competitors if loans are considered too cheap, but
also to avoid charging too high a rate that this is at a level that a return
greater than the market expectation is received by the Council. The rate of
return needs also to reflect current market conditions and the position with
appropriate comparators in the market.

4.0

Rent assumptions

4.1

Sutton Living will be striking a balance between providing homes for an
appropriate range of tenures and being commercially viable.

4.2

The Council’s new build programme seeks to develop housing for what was
known as general needs rented housing including what is now defined in the

Sutton Living Limited Review of Business Plan Assumptions

December 19, 2016

Page 17

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

recently published Mayor of London’s Affordable Homes programme as
affordable rent (which is defined by benchmarks to reflect the formula rent cap
figures for social rents uprated by CPI for September 2016 plus one per cent)
and London Living rent (or intermediate rent, wardspecific rent levels for
London Living Rent homes based on onethird of median gross household
income for the local borough. The level is based on the borough median, but
varies by up to 20 per cent in line with house prices for the ward). It will also
include some shared ownership in order to help scheme viability and give an
opportunity for those to get on the property ladder who could not afford to buy
outright.
4.3 Sutton Living’s focus should be to provide market rented housing as well as
intermediate rented housing in order to maintain commercial viability as well as
seeking recognition of being a provider of good quality market housing and
acting as a responsible landlord in the Borough. In order to be planning policy
compliant the target for affordable provision would be that set out in local plan
policy i.e. that 40% of the scheme should be affordable. However, for Sutton
Living, affordable housing should focus on intermediate rent and shared
ownership (where sales are considered), with the mix on each scheme
dependent upon scheme viability appraisal.
4.4

Service charges will be included within the rent and be levied to fully recover
costs.

4.5

Property ground rents are normally payable at nominal amounts (e.g. £100
pa) on leasehold schemes. Other Councils are reviewing ground rents and
how these might be offered at a higher level, balanced by a lower acquisition
figure as being more tax efficient. This will be reviewed and reported to the
Shareholdings Board.

5.0

Development assumptions

5.1

The Business Plan of February 2016 gave cost assumptions for site acquisition and

development costs for each dwelling. These figures will be a consequence of
land values in the borough and build cost. Build cost will be determined by the
works specification, form of contract and build and material cost inflation. For
acquisition costs the market value will be defined by the RICs Red Book –
Professional Standards – January 2014 Edition. For construction costs these
will be based upon obtaining current building regulations approval, and
minimum planning standards, using a form of building contract (e.g. JCT
Design & Build or JCT Intermediate Form of Contract) as set out by the
appointed cost consultant and employer’s agent, and tested by competitive
tender. The actual unit purchase and development cost will be reported
annually for information. Similarly, the cost of refurbishing individual
acquisitions will be reported annually.

Sutton Living Limited Review of Business Plan Assumptions

December 19, 2016

Agenda Item 7

Page 18
Appendix A

5.2

A developer’s profit should be added for each project where the development
and disposal of assets in being considered and this would normally be set
between 20 and 25% of total costs, depending upon the complexity of the
scheme and perceived development and sales risk.

5.3

The developer’s or Required Profit would be factored into the “Gross
Development Value” (GDV) of the scheme and would determine the amount to
be paid for the land where:
Amount available for land purchase=GDV (Build/development cost + Fees+ Required Profit)

6.0

Sales assumptions

6.1

Initially sales may relate to shared ownership where a proportion of the
property is sold. The Business Plan of February 2016 assumed a sale of 35%
of the equity with the remaining 65% retained by Sutton Living. Shared
ownership purchasers have to purchase the share they can afford which on
average for affordable housing has been 35%. In addition to a capital receipt
Sutton Living would also be able to charge rent on the “retained” equity of
2.75%. This is already factored into scheme income and will be the maximum
amount charged. A small reduction may be considered on a scheme by
scheme basis if this affects affordability.

6.2

Future sales of shared ownership tranches through “staircasing” was
assumed in the previous Business Plan as 1% of equity sold on average per
property per year. Normally, no allowance is made for staircasing in project
appraisals. As with property growth a review of shared ownership staircasing
should be included as part of the five year review of the scheme.

6.3

No assumptions have been made for grant from the GLA. However, Sutton
Living may consider registering as a Bidder for Grant through the GLA
Affordable Homes Programme 201621.

7.0

Fees and other oncosts

7.1

The February Business Plan made an assumption that professional fees of up
to 10% would be added to acquisition and construction costs, and a further
development allowance of 6% to cover staff working on the project. This figure
should also cover the cost of survey reports and planning fees. This sum
should be viewed as a maximum figure, with ideally these combined costs be
kept to 15% except for more complex projects.

7.2

A contingency of 3% was proposed to add to construction costs. A higher

figure could be added upon the recommendation of the cost consultant for
example to refurbishment costs which are more difficult to predict.

7.3 An additional cost of 1½% should be added for sales schemes to cover
additional marketing costs and legal fees.

Sutton Living Limited Review of Business Plan Assumptions

December 19, 2016

Page 19

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

8.0

Tax

8.1

Stamp Duty Land Tax (SDLT), Corporation Tax and VAT will be charged as
applicable. The amount of VAT payable on professional fees could be reduced
if these fees were capitalised as part of the building contract. Conversely if the
building contract was for refurbishment Vat would be payable on the works
contract as well as professional fees

9.0

Financial Performance Measures

9.1

The Business Plan identified a range of methods to assess individual scheme
viability. In addition to schemes obtaining a cumulative Internal Rate of Return
(IRR) of 4%; a positive Net Present Value (NPV); and loan repayment within
50 years, six other potential measures of efficiency were listed:
•
•
•

Profit On Cost (POC) ratio between scheme profit and development cost
Profit on Value (POV) ratio scheme profit and total market value of the scheme
Return On Equity (ROC) profit as a proportion of the equity capital invested in
the scheme

•

Return on Capital employed (ROCE) profit against combined equity and debt
capital invested

•
•

Rental Yield –gross and net yield
Price to Earnings (PE) measure in commercial finance in relation to share
value

9.2

Achievement of all these additional measures appear to put unnecessary
requirements in terms of scheme efficiency and complexity beyond what a
developer would normally be seeking and some (such as Price to Earnings)
are not relevant to Sutton Living as an evaluation tool.

9.3

Consequently, in addition to IRR; a positive NPV, and loan repayment within an
acceptable period, a developer’s profit of between 20 and 25% should be
sought before a value is estimated for land acquisition. The acquisition price is
a residual calculation worked from the Gross Development Value of the
scheme

10.0

Conclusion

10.1

This report recommends the streamlining of development assumptions for the
development of schemes by Sutton Living Limited, based upon agreed industry
standards and actual projects, now that Sutton Living is more actively involved in
the development process. The report does not discuss the funding assumptions
used by the Council for Sutton Living, and these will separately need to be
reviewed in order that Sutton Living remains competitive in the market place.

10.2

This report deals with the review of development assumptions. At the next
meeting of the Sutton Shareholdings Board on 8th March, the Business Plan

Sutton Living Limited Review of Business Plan Assumptions

December 19, 2016

Page 20

Agenda Item 7

Appendix A
itself and Risk Register will be reviewed
11.0 Recommendation
11.1

This report is for noting

Mike Kirk
Managing Director Sutton Living Limited

Sutton Living Limited Review of Business Plan Assumptions

December 19, 2016

Page 21

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

Appendix 1 Summary of Business Plan Assumptions
Parameters
Core Assumptions
para.3.0
Term of the Model

New Terms

Current Terms

Unamended

Scheme payback

Unamended

50 Years (Year 1
2015/6)
Within 50 years

Inflation

To be reviewed
annually linked to CPI
1% above inflation

2%

Property Growth

3% in appraisals,
fiveyearly reviews for
each developed
scheme

3%

Property inflation figure
is an underestimate of
current house price
inflation in Sutton

Voids & Bad debts

4% for voids and bad
debts

4% for affordable
rent and shared
ownership, 6% for
market rent

A higher provision may
be made for high rent
schemes. More than
10% would be reported
to the Shareholdings
Board

Management costs

£1000 per dwelling

Management and
maintenance costs
assumed at £1100
for affordable and
market rented
housing, £600 for
shared ownership

Managing Agent’s
Fee

An agreed sum to be
paid to agents
managing on behalf of
SLL
£600 average: but will
vary according to unit
size and whether
units new build or
refurbished

Review annually against
actual scheme costs.
Costs exceeding £2000
for management and
maintenance to be
explained to
Shareholdings Board in
further detail.
To follow market rates
and instead of a
management cost

Management and
maintenance costs
assumed at £1100
for affordable and
market rented
housing, £600 for
shared ownership

Review annually against
actual scheme costs.
Costs exceeding £2000
for management and
maintenance to be
explained to
Shareholdings Board in
further detail.
Monitor against actual
costs. Costs exceeding
£2000 to be explained to

Real growth

Maintenance costs

Lifecycle costs

£1222 average
commencing year 6:
will vary against unit

Comments

Consumer Prices
Index

£1100 per dwelling
from year 6

Sutton Living Limited Review of Business Plan Assumptions

December 19, 2016

Page 22

Agenda Item 7

Appendix A

Set up and fixed
costs

Interest costs

Rent assumptions
para. 4.0
Market rents

Affordable rents

London Living Rent
(Intermediate Rent)

Service charges

Property ground rent

size. Usually 0.6%
for new build and
0.8% for
refurbishment
No change proposed
at present, but costs
to be kept under
review
To reflect current
market conditions

£60k year 1, £50k
p.a thereafter

New Terms

Current Terms

Review annually and
set for each scheme
using RICS
accredited Valuer
using local
comparables
To be linked to Mayor
of London affordable
rent benchmarks

LHA level for
Worcester Park
(Outer South West
Broad Rental
Market Area)

To be linked to Mayor
of London’s London
Living Rents
(wardspecific rent
levels for London
Living Rent homes
based on onethird of
median gross
household income for
the local borough. The
level is based on the
borough median, but
varies by up to 20 per
cent in line with
house prices for the
ward).
Those applicable to
scheme and based on
recovering
expenditure
May merit
consideration to offer
increased ground rent

Shareholdings Board in
further detail

Actual costs to be
reported in annual
business plan review
Actual rate charged to be
reviewed on a
schemeby scheme
basis
Comments
Valuations to reflect unit
size by post code

80% of market
rents for 1 bed
flats, 69% for 2
bed flats, 66% for
3 bed flats

Service charges
levied to recover
costs

Service charges form
part of the market rent

Currently
considered as
nominal

To be reviewed (see
para. 4.5)

Sutton Living Limited Review of Business Plan Assumptions

December 19, 2016

Page 23

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

and lower acquisition
figure as being more
tax efficient
Development
assumptions para.
5
Acquisition
land/buildings

Based on RICs Red
Book

Various estimates
made based on
local knowledge
and research

Build cost and build
cost inflation

Based on BCIS and
cost consultant
review of relevant
tender prices

Construction costs
based on market
intelligence (@Feb
15, £115k to £140k
per dwelling)

Costs of refurbishment
of individual acquisitions
to be kept under review
and reported annually to
Shareholdings Board

Developer’s profit

Target between
2025% of total costs
depending upon
scheme risk

No specific
assumption made

May not be applicable
where all units are
retained in management

Establishing scheme
profit
Business Plan
parameters
Sales Assumptions

Residual from
scheme GDV
New terms

Shared equity

No change

Rent on retained
equity

No change on
maximum amount
applied
No change currently –
but note comment in
para.6.3

Grant from GLA

Market sales based
on RICs valuation

Current Terms
Estimates based
on local knowledge
and research
Shared ownership
assumes average
initial tranche of
35%
2.75%

Comments
Sales estimate valid
three months
Current staircasing
assumption 1%
additional equity sold
each year
Balance to be achieved
with affordability

No assumptions
on receipt of grant
in current
Business Plan

Reviewing bid
documents for GLA
Affordable Homes
Programme to decide
whether to become a
registered provider

10% fees, 6% SLL
development
allowance

Additional fee of 1½ %
for marketing in schemes
with outright/shared
ownership

Fees & other
oncosts para 7.0
Fees and allowance

15% for professional
fees and SLL
development
allowance

Sutton Living Limited Review of Business Plan Assumptions

December 19, 2016

Page 24

Agenda Item 7

Appendix A
Works contingency

To reflect works risk
and should be in the
range of 5% to 10%

3%

Retained by client so
not added to the
contractor’s contract
sum. May be higher in
more complex schemes

VAT

To be charged on all
fees, and
refurbishment works
costs

Costs liable for
VAT quoted
inclusive of this

Awareness of different
rates e.g. refurbishment
where there is a change
of use from commercial
to residential is a lower
rate

SDLT

Allowance to be made
for SDLT where
applicable

SDLT built in
based on current
thresholds

Schemes
cumulatively to
achieve 4%

Schemes
cumulatively to
achieve 4%

Scheme to achieve
+NPV

NPV referenced as
part of assessment
process

Tax para 8.0

Financial
Performance para
9.0
Internal Rate of
Return (IRR)
Net Present Value

Repayment of loan

No change

Within 50 years

Sutton Living Limited Review of Business Plan Assumptions

Where evaluating
multiple projects NPV
can be used to prioritise
one scheme over
another
Standard assumption

December 19, 2016

Page 25

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

Sutton Living Limited Review of Business Plan Assumptions

December 19, 2016

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 27

Agenda Item 8

Report to:

Sutton Shareholdings Board

Report title:

Sutton Decentralised Energy Network Business Performance Update

Report from:

Mary Morrissey, Strategic Director of Environment, Housing and
Regeneration
Borough Wide
Councillor Simon Wales, Chair of the Sutton Shareholdings Board and
Councillor Jayne McCoy, Chair of Housing, Economy and Business
Committee
Mandy Cherrington, Director – Sutton Decentralised Energy Network
Limited, 020 8770 5530

Ward/Areas affected:
Chair of Committee/Lead
Member:
Author(s)/Contact
Number(s):
Corporate Plan Priorities:

Open/Exempt:

Signed:

Date:

4 January 2017

● An Open Council
● A Green Council
● A Fair Council
● A Smart Council
Open with the exception of Appendix B (Sutton Decentralised Energy
Network Risk Register) which is exempt by virtue of paragraph 3 of
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.
Date:
19 December 2016

1.

Summary

1.1

This report is presented for noting the update contained in the Sutton Decentralised Energy
Network Performance Report. The Risk Register for Sutton Decentralised Energy Network
Limited does not include any amends since the previous meeting in November 2016 and
therefore an unamended version has been attached.

2.

Recommendations

The Sutton Shareholding Board is recommended to:
2.1

Note the performance update contained in the Sutton Decentralised Energy Network
Performance Report in Appendix A.

2.2

Note the unamended Sutton Decentralised Energy Network Risk Register from the previous
committee in Appendix B (exempt).

3.

Background

Page 28

Agenda Item 8

3.1

Following the Council’s decision in July 2014 to establish an Energy Services Company (ESCo),
a detailed business model was prepared to demonstrate the commercial viability of the proposed
company. The initial business plan was approved by the OSL SubCommittee (now the Sutton
Shareholdings Board) on 4 August 2015, along with the Shareholder Agreement, enabling Sutton
Decentralised Energy Network Limited to be established.

3.2

Since the approval of the business plan at OSL SubCommittee (now the Sutton Shareholdings
Board) progress has been made on both Phase 1 and Phase 2 of the network.

4.

Issues

Risk Register: Revisions
4.1

There have been no amendments to the Risk Register since the previous Sutton Shareholdings
Board on 8 November 2016. The unamended document is attached at Appendix B.

5.

Options Considered

Performance Update
5.1

The performance update is attached at Appendix A – Sutton Decentralised Energy Network
Performance Report dated October/November 2016.

6.

Impacts and Implications
Financial

6.1

In July 2013, the London Borough of Sutton’s Strategy and Resources Committee (S&R)
approved the Conceptual Business Case for the development of a district heating network in
Sutton, with funding of £4.5m.

6.2

A detailed Financial Model has been prepared for the Phase 1 Scheme and this demonstrates
positive cash flow of £1.54m from delivery of the scheme.
Legal

6.3

This report seeks to update the Shareholdings Board and the recommendations which are before
the Board do not give rise to any specific legal implications.

7.

Appendices and Background Documents
Appendix letter

Title

A

Sutton Decentralised Energy Network Limited Performance Report

B

Unamended Risk Register, exempt by virtue of paragraph 3 of

Page 29

Agenda Item 8

Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

Background documents
n/a

Audit Trail
Version

Final

Draft: 07/12/2016

Consultation with other officers
Finance

Yes

Phil Butlin

Legal

Yes

Padma Srinivasan

Equality Impact Assessment
required?

No

N/A

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 31

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A

SDEN Performance Report for the Opportunity Sutton Limited
SubCommittee
Period – October/November 2016

1. Heat Purchase Agreement  Viridor
Works Undertaken
i.

Continued negotiations with Viridor, and key commercial issues now resolved.

Works for next period
i.

Work to continue closing down negotiations so that a final form of agreement can be
available by the end of January 2017.

2. Developer Connection and Supply Agreement
Works Undertaken
i.

Agreement has now been reached on key commercial issues and detailed negotiations are
underway with a jointly agreed timescale of reaching close by the end of March 2017.

Works for next period
i.

Continue negotiating terms with Barratts to reach closure in accordance with the agreed
timescale by the end of March 2017.

3. Network Rail, Planning and Land Agreements
Works Undertaken
i.
ii.
iii.

Network Rail – finalising easement.
Planning – EIAs and Planning applications being finalised ready for submission.
Land Agreement with Thames Water – Final comments now with Thames Water to review
on one clause no material issues have been raised.

Works for next period
i.
ii.
iii.

Network Rail – agree the terms of the easement.
Planning – submit planning applications.
Thames Water – finalise terms of the easement.

Agenda Item 8

Page 32
Appendix A

4. Procurement – Process
Works Undertaken
i.

Tender Clarifications have been received.

Works for next period
i.

Progressing to award contracts to match timescale agreed with Barratt’s by March 2017.

5. Funding
Works Undertaken
i.

No change to capital or cost projections but development costs are now showing the need
on a worse case projection, due to the extended period required to close agreements, for
£100k of development costs to be capitalised which has been agreed with LBS Finance as
this does not have a material impact on the projected Internal Rate of Return (IRR).

Works for next period
i.

Continue to closely monitor procurement and development costs.

6. Structures, Governance & PR
Works Undertaken
i.

Website is currently live, www.sden.org.uk

Works for next period
i.

Review prospectus and update as necessary.

7. Phase 2
Works Undertaken
i.
ii.

Discussions are ongoing with a number of potential consumers for Phase 2.
Scope for the technical consultancy work to support the development of the Phase 2
Business Plan is prepared and with Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy
(BEIS) for approval as they are funding this.

Works for next period
i.
ii.

Continue discussions to enable the development of the Phase 2 plan.
Commission consultants funded by the Heat Delivery Unit (HNDU) award to gather detailed
data for the Phase 2 Business Plan.

Page 33

Agenda Item 9

Report to:

Sutton Shareholdings Board

Report title:

Encompass Digital Innovation Services

Report from:

Mary Morrissey, Strategic Director Environment, Housing and
Regeneration

Ward/Areas affected:

Borough Wide

Chair of Committee/Lead
Member:
Author(s)/Contact
Number(s):

Councillor Simon Wales, Deputy Leader of the Council

Corporate Plan Priorities:

● An Open Council
● A Fair Council
● A Smart Council
Open

Open/Exempt:

Date:

4 January 2017

Marcus ReesHarris, Head of Quality and Business Development
020 8770 5693

Signed:

Date:

20 December 2016

1.

Summary

1.1

Under matters reserved to the Sutton Shareholding Board Encompass LATC Lts is required to
seek authority when it delivers services that are not ancillary to its core business.

1.2

This report asks for authority to start the commercial delivery of Digital Innovation packages
designed and developed by Encompass LATC Ltd.

2.

Recommendations
The Sutton Shareholdings Board is recommended to:

2.1

Approve the commercial delivery of the Digital Innovation Packages designed and developed by
Encompass LATC Ltd to other organisations.

3.

Background

3.1

Encompass Business plan set out an ambitious business development plan.

Agenda Item 9

3.2

Page 34

Aligned to our vision and values, our approach to business development is to:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Increase penetration into existing markets with existing products or services
Develop new markets for existing products or services
Innovate by developing new products or services
Diversify into new markets with new products or services

3.1

We have now refined our digital service provision to provide an effective and marketable product.

4.

Issues

4.1

Encompass has developed innovation consultancy services that will enable businesses to
achieve digital transformation. Our services will help organisations keep pace with the ever
changing needs of business and their customers, making the delivery of their services more
efficient and cost effective.

4.1

As part of our digital innovation consultancy services Encompass has developed the concept of
‘Icebox’.

4.2

This is a ‘ground up’ collaborative initiative that has been launched in Sutton for the Sutton staff
and is a regular event for colleagues who want to gain maximum benefit from effective use of
modern ICT and explore new, emerging technologies in a dynamic, innovative arena.

4.3

The ICEbox experience has now been packaged to take to market for other local authorities and
private sector businesses.

5.

Options Considered

5.1

Agreement to start delivering the Digital Innovations Consultancy will enable Encompass LATC
to start trading and begin to realise its ambition to generate an income stream that creates a
moderate profit.

6.

Impacts and Implications
Financial

6.1

The price for delivering Icebox is individually agreed with the contracting organisation and is
dependant on the level of service required and days bought. However, the cost to Encompass
LATC Ltd for delivering Icebox to a contracting organisation is be contained within the contract
price.

6.2

The initial contract with the London Borough of Sutton for the provision of consultancy services
will be delivered within current resources in the Quality, Development and Innovation team and
will not impact on the delivery of services contracted to Encompass LATC by the London
Borough of Sutton.

Page 35

Agenda Item 9

6.3

With regard to future contracts awarded by an external organisation the pricing structure
facilitates the scaling up of resources to match demand without impacting on the delivery of
existing services. The pricing structure requires organisations to pay an initial setup fee
typically set at around 30% of the contract value. The remainder of the balance will be invoiced
quarterly in advance with payment terms set at 30 days.

6.4

A central aim of the Local Authority Trading Company is to generate a profit and this activity and
any future contract will contribute to realising this ambition.
Legal

6.3

A standard service agreement for the contracting of services between Encompass and the
purchasing organisations is being developed in association with legal services. A pro forma has
been supplied to Legal for their comments and will be modified for each customer based on the
type of consultancy service that they purchase from Encompass

6.4

More than 80% of the activities Encompass carries out must be in the performance of tasks
entrusted to it by the London Borough Of Sutton. Encompass will work with Financial and Legal
to ensure that any new income generated does not result in TECKAL exception being
compromised.

7.

Appendices and Background Documents
Appendix letter

Title
None

Background documents
None

Audit Trail
Version

Final

Date: 19 December 2016

Consultation with other officers
Finance

Yes

Sue Hog

Legal

Yes

Maria Searle

Integrated Impact Assessment

No

N/A

Agenda Item 9

required?

Page 36

Page 37

Agenda Item 10

Report to:

Sutton Shareholdings Board

Report title:

Sutton Education Services  Launch update & resolutions agreement

Report from:

Strategic Director  People’s Directorate

Ward/Areas affected:

Boroughwide

Chair of Committee/Lead
Member:
Author(s)/Contact
Number(s):
Corporate Plan Priorities:

Cllr. Simon Wales, Deputy Leader of the Council

Open/Exempt:
Signed:

Date:

4 January 2017

Tom Alexander, Head of Strategic Business  020 8770 4522
● A Smart Council
●
Open
Date:

07/12/16

1.

Summary

1.1

The Children, Families & Education Committee (CFE) took the decision to transfer the Council’s
education support services to a new delivery model in February 2016. The business case was
then agreed by CFE in June 2016. On November 1st, 2016 187 staff (headcount) transferred
into a new company limited by shares which now delivers education support services under the
trading name of Sutton Education Services Ltd. The Council is the majority shareholder (75%)
with relevant local school governing bodies and academy trusts owning the remaining 25%
between them. The Council and the initial minority shareholders may determine whether to invite
additional minority shareholders to join. If they do so this would dilute the equity stakes of the
minority shareholders.

1.2

Delivering these services in this way means that we can continue to fulfil our statutory
obligations, protect discretionary services that would otherwise have been stopped and work in
true partnership with local schools at a time when the Council’s role in education is being
reduced by national Government policy. Importantly we are also able to deliver £1.4 million in
savings by 2018/19 from services we know are highly valued by local schools and have helped
Sutton schools achieve the positive national reputation that they have.

1.3

Since the launch of SES Ltd., considerable effort has been committed to establishing a secure
management structure to support staff through the changes ahead, ensuring appropriate
governance through putting a strong Board in place, securing school and academy signup to the
company and developing the company’s offer, using a staff group to develop marketing options.
A summary of key activity is set out below:
●

Legal documentation signed by Council and SES Ltd. and executed by Legal Service.

Page 38

Agenda Item 10

●

●

●

Contract Management to be delivered by Commissioning & Governance with the
Authorised Officer (whose role is to be the Council’s named individual accountable for
ensuring our obligations are met) retained in the People’s Directorate. Contract
management meetings have taken place monthly since the service went live.
Recruitment of 3 Non Executive Directors (NED)  This is being managed by the
Council’s HR service, advert has gone out in the following sites, LBS, Indeed.co.uk,
linkedIn, NED Exchange, Sunday Times online and NEDonBoard website. The closing
date for applications was Friday 9 December, shortlisting was w/c 12 December, with
interview dates in late December.
Recruitment of Managing Director and NED (Chair)  Are both being managed by
Penna, with the Managing Director closing date being 19 Dec, a preliminary/technical
interview w/c 9 Jan, and a final interview w/c 30 January. The Chair recruitment has a
closing date 16 Dec, with a prelim/technical interview w/c 19 Dec, and a final
interview w/c 16 January.

1.4

For a more detailed report on progress covering ownership, governance, management, initial
development priorities, financial outlook and contract management please see appendix A.

2.

Recommendations

The Sutton Shareholdings Board is recommended to:
2.1

Agree SES Ltd Articles of Association (appendix B).

2.2

Agree appointment of Directors that have been selected and recommended to date (names to be
circulated to members in advance of the meeting) and;

2.3

Delegate authority to the Council’s Authorised Officer (Kieran Holliday) to appoint the Chair on
the timeline set out above (in consultation with the Chairs of the SSB and CFE Committee).

3.

Background

3.1

This project was part of the Children’s Service Redesign programme and was scoped in the
Spring of 2015. In October 2015, once initial information gathering and stakeholder consultation
had been completed, the project gained traction and a dedicated resource was bought in to
recommend a delivery vehicle and business case and implement the changes in the event of
business case approval being secured.

3.2

In order to reduce expenditure by the target of £1.4m per year it was agreed to reduce
expenditure on some services in scope to the statutory minimum level. Half of this total has
already been delivered. The business plan agreed by CFE Committee for the company
forecasts a first year deficit of over £300k, recognising that the company would inherit an
excess of expenditure over income, before restructuring can take effect to move the company
into a breakeven position from year two onwards.
The company has already identified additional income from trading with schools of £200,000.

3.3

Page 39

Agenda Item 10

3.4

Since 13 July 2016, the Commissioning & Governance team have provided an interim NED and
corporate assurance to help steer the project to completion. The interim NED will stand down
as soon as the new Board members are appointed.

4.

Issues

4.1

There continues to be uncertainty about the future national funding of education and this has
implications for the company. The Department for Education consultation in March 2016 on the
development of a national funding formula for schools indicated that there would be a second
consultation following the first  this is still awaited. The ongoing uncertainty about the impact of
the introduction of a national funding formula (predicted to be overall negative for schools in
London) makes it harder for Sutton schools and academies either individually, or collectively
through the Schools Forum, to commit to funding over the medium term and thus increases the
company’s uncertainty over income projections.

4.2

Of the £1.4m target reduction in the cost of education services savings target £243,000 was
expected to be delivered through savings in backoffice costs. The company is working with the
Council’s Finance team to clarify the extent to which this is achievable. To date SLA’s have
been agreed with ICT, Legal and Audit, with discussions with HR and Procurement nearing
completion. The contract agreed between the Council and the Company says that additional
budget that would have been available to the Council in relation to support services and
premises leases, will be paid to the Company from April 2017.

4.3

The Schools Forum is considering at its meeting on 8 December proposals to reduce central
spending on some specialist services (for pupils for whom English is an additional language, or
who are on the autistic spectrum or who have speech and language difficulties). The outcome
of those decisions could mean that the company will have to seek to trade these services with
schools and academies if the existing level of capacity is to be retained.

4.4

Given the inherited funding deficit and the financial uncertainty it is clear that the company faces
a challenging initial few months, including a significant staff consultation on reorganisation, new
senior management and governance and the launch of the company to the wider market.

5.

Options Considered

5.1

The Council considered the following options when reviewing the delivery of education support
services:
5.1.1 Stop all nonstatutory services and retain remaining services in house  rejected as
unstainable and unable to deliver required savings.
5.1.2 Spin out statutory services only/spin out full education support services in their entirety 
rejected given lack of staff interest in a spin out.
5.1.3 Outsource the services  rejected given loss of control and ability to deliver statutory
functions.
5.1.4 Transfer the services into a Local Authority Trading Company  rejected in favour of a more
collaborative model with local schools.

Agenda Item 10

5.1.5

Page 40

Transfer the services into a jointly owned trading company  accepted for the reasons given
above (1.2)

5.2

Consultation took place with all key stakeholders (schools, staff etc.) to test different variations
of a delivery model until the eventual arrangement was agreed with the Schools Forum in early
2016. Since then, schools have been offered the opportunity to be ‘B’ shareholders in the
company, with 20 schools confirming they will be taking up the offer and a further 7 schools to
respond in mid December after the outcome of Governor meetings.

6.

Impacts and Implications
Financial

6.1

The planned general fund savings from this project are £946,000 in 2016/17 and a further
£458,000 in 2017/18, totalling £1,404k annually from 2017/18. About half of the planned general
fund savings were achieved prior to the launch of the company, mainly through restructuring.
The balance of the savings will be achieved by reductions in the price paid by the Council to
SES Ltd for the services provided under the contract between the parties. SES Ltd will need to
reduce its net costs accordingly and this is expected to be achieved through income generation
from schools and further restructuring.

6.2

In addition to the general fund savings the Schools Forum is considering a proposal to reduce
central Dedicated Schools Grant funding (that would otherwise have been income to the
company) by £798,000 over a three year period, starting with £200k in financial year 2017/18.
This follows their earlier decision to remove all funding for one of the company’s teams from
January 2017 (£427,000 full year).

6.3

In the June report to the Children Families and Education Committee it was reported that it was
expected that the Council would make a loan to SES Ltd to fund its working capital
requirements. After further discussions it was agreed to schedule the payments made by the
Council for the services provided so that the company’s cash flow position remained in credit
throughout the year. This meant that the loan was no longer required.

6.4

The June report also flagged a financial risk around higher than expected pension costs for the
Company (estimated at an additional £106,000). These are being taken into account in
developing the proposals for bringing income and expenditure into line.

6.5

For the first five months of the company’s operation the Council is providing support services to
the company on the same basis as it does to Council departments, avoiding financial risk to
either party. The company has agreed SLAs with the shared ICT service and with SLLp and is
seeking to reach agreement with other support services (e.g. HR, payroll, procurement) to inform
the savings position referred to at para 4.2 above.
Legal

6.6

(Insert text here having first referred to the guidance notes)

Page 41

6.7

(Insert text)

7.

Appendices and Background Documents
Appendix letter

Title

A

Progress Report

B

Articles of Association

Agenda Item 10

Background documents
Children, Families & Education Committee February 2016  Education Services Spin Out
Children, & Education Committee June 2016  Future Funding & Delivery of Education
Services

Audit Trail
Version

Final

Date: 19 December 2016

Finance

Yes

Phil Butlin

Legal

No

Awaiting comments

Equality Impact Assessment
required?

Yes

Completed (part of June
2016 Committee
submission)

Consultation with other officers

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 43

Agenda Item
Appendix
A 10

SUTTON SHAREHOLDINGS BOARD 4TH JANUARY 2017
SUTTON EDUCATION SERVICES LTD
APPENDIX

1.

2.

3.

Introduction
The Council decided at its June 2016 CF&E Committee meeting to establish a company,
jointly owned by the Council and by Sutton school governing bodies and academy trusts, to
deliver a broad range of educational services, both statutory and discretionary, funded from a
variety of sources (LBS, central DSG, individual school/academy purchases, grants, income
from parents).
The company started delivering services on 1st November 2016 following the transfer of 187
employees from LBS.
Ownership
Initially the company is 100% owned by LBS. 33 governing bodies and academy trusts are in
the process of making their final decisions as to whether to join the company. At the time of
writing 22 have confirmed, five have indicated the date by which they will have decided, six are
yet to confirm their position.

4.

The Council will transfer 25% of its shares, split between however many schools have chosen
to be involved, meaning that if, for example, 25 governing bodies/academy trusts were joining
each would own 1% of the company, whereas with 30 governing bodies/academy trusts joining
each would own 0.83%.

5.

The Council has indicated that it will be for the shareholders to decide collectively whether and
when to “reopen the window” to enable more governing bodies/academy trusts to join. The
shareholding structure of the company means that there would be no impact on the Council’s
75% shareholding, but increasing the number of minority shareholders would dilute each of the
existing minority shareholders’ shares – e.g. if there were 50 minority shareholders each would
own 0.5% of the company.
Governance

6.

The company is governed by a Board of Directors, initially consisting of two directors: Abi
Macklin (chair) and William Clapp (Acting Managing Director). Recruitment processes are
underway for a Chair (appointed by the Council), three other nonexecutive directors (appointed
by the Council), two nonexecutive directors (appointed by the minority shareholders) and a
permanent managing director. Certain matters are reserved for decision by the shareholders.

Agenda Item 10

Page 44

Appendix A

Management
7.

An initial senior team of seven is in place, with a blend of parttime, fulltime, interim,
permanent, employed and contracted staff. An Operations Director (with oversight of finance,
HR and contractual issues) has been appointed and he will be joining the company in February.
Initial development priorities

8.

The Board has adopted four initial priorities as follows:
●

Financial balance
The company was set up at the same time as the Council was deciding to reduce its
funding of education services to the statutory minimum, removing £946,000 from the
education budget in the current financial year with a further £460,000 reduction from
April 2017. Top priority for the company is to bring its income and expenditure into line
so that it is operating on a sustainable basis from summer 2017.

●

Growing income from a secure base
Securing mutually beneficial relationships with our existing customers (mainly
shareholders) is fundamentally important before we pursue opportunities in the wider
market, developing our offer and targeting sustainable income growth.

●

Responding to changes in funding of education
Locally schools’ budgets are under pressure with national funding changes in the offing
also, creating a degree of uncertainty about future income sources. As well as paying
close attention to these external factors we must also prepare our teams to enable
them to win business from new commissioners – in particular reductions in central
Dedicated Schools Grant is likely to sharpen the need for us to sell to individual
schools or smaller groups of schools.

●

Cultural transformation
We have an expert workforce with substantial knowledge about service delivery, the
local schools context and operating in a local government environment. This has
served us well in the past, but will not secure our future in a commercial environment,
meaning that we need to help many of our staff to adjust to new ways of thinking and
working.

Financial outlook
9.

The business plan for the company approved by the Council predicted a first year loss in
excess of £300k, before the company moves into breakeven territory in year two. Achieving
this will represent a significant challenge given the funding reductions decided by the Council,
those already decided by the Schools Forum, further decisions on DSG expected and the
pressure on school and academy delegated budgets, both in Sutton and beyond.

Page 45

Agenda Item
Appendix
A 10

10.

As well as managing its own financial affairs the company is also responsible for administering
certain budgets on the Council’s behalf. The most significant of these is the SEND budget.
The company has identified a substantial funding gap in 2017/18 which is being reported to
Schools Forum. It is clear that unless significant, collective action is taken across the Sutton
education system to change the way in which SEND is funded the ability of the company to
continue to deliver collectivelyfunded valueadding services to Sutton schools and academies
will be curtailed, as an everincreasing proportion of Dedicated Schools Grant will be spent on
this, reducing the funding available for other services provided by the company.

11.

The future balance of funding within the DSG will have a material impact on the company and
it is committed to support all efforts to mitigate the financial impact of SEND spending on
delegated school budgets and on other central DSG funds.

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 47

COMPANY NUMBER 10276456

Agenda Item 10

Agenda Item 10

Page 48

Page 49

Agenda Item 10

THE COMPANIES ACT 2006
PRIVATE COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
OF
SUTTON EDUCATION SERVICES LTD

1.

PART 1 – INTERPRETATION

2.

DEFINED TERMS

2.1.

In these Articles, unless the context requires otherwise:

.

A Director has the meaning given in Article 25.2

.

A Shares means ordinary shares in the Company designated as A shares

.

A Shareholder means a person whose name is entered in the Company's register of members as
the holder of one or more A Shares

.

Articles means the Company's articles of association as amended from time to time

.

B Director has the meaning given in Article 25.3

.

B Shareholder means a person whose name is entered in the Company's register of members as
the holder of a B Share

.

B Shares means ordinary shares in the Company designated as B shares

.

bankruptcy includes individual insolvency proceedings in a jurisdiction other than England and
Wales or Northern Ireland which have an effect similar to that of bankruptcy

.

Chair has the meaning given in Article 18

.

Chair of the Meeting has the meaning given in Article 53.3

.

Companies Acts means the Companies Acts (as defined in section 2 of the Companies Act 2006)
in so far as they apply to the Company

.

Company means the company governed by these Articles

.

Conflict has the meaning given in Article 20

.

Director means a director of the Company, and includes any person occupying the position of
director, by whatever name called

.

Distribution Recipient has the meaning given in Article 41.2

.

Document includes, unless otherwise specified, any Document sent or supplied in Electronic Form

.

Electronic Form has the meaning given in section 1168 of the Companies Act 2006

.

Eligible Director means a Director who would have been entitled to vote on the matter had it been
proposed as a resolution at a meeting of the Directors

3
M-15817882-1

Agenda Item 10

Page 50

.

fully paid, in relation to a Share, means that the nominal value and any premium to be paid to the
Company in respect of that Share have been paid to the Company

.

Group Company means, in relation to the Company:
the Company;
any subsidiary undertaking of the Company;
any parent undertaking or undertakings of the Company; and
any subsidiary undertaking of any such parent undertakings

.

Hard Copy Form has the meaning given in section 1168 of the Companies Act 2006

.

Instrument means a Document in Hard Copy Form

.

ordinary resolution has the meaning given in section 282 of the Companies Act 2006

.

paid means paid or credited as paid

.

participate, in relation to a Directors' meeting, has the meaning given in Article 16

.

Proxy Notice has the meaning given in Article 60.1

.

Shareholder means an A Shareholder or a B Shareholder

.

Shares means A Shares and the B Shares and Share means any one of them

.

special resolution has the meaning given in section 283 of the Companies Act 2006

.

writing means the representation or reproduction of words, symbols or other information in a visible
form by any method or combination of methods, whether sent or supplied in Electronic Form or
otherwise

2.2.

Unless the context otherwise requires, other words or expressions contained in these Articles bear
the same meaning as in the Companies Act 2006 as in force on the date when these Articles
become binding on the Company.

2.3.

A reference to a person shall include a reference to an individual, firm, company, corporation,
partnership, unincorporated body of persons, government, state or agency of a state or any
association, trust, joint venture or consortium (whether or not having separate legal personality) and
that person's personal representatives, successors, permitted assigns and permitted transferees.

2.4.

Unless the context otherwise requires, words in the singular shall include the plural and in the plural
shall include the singular.

2.5.

Unless the context otherwise requires, a reference to one gender shall include a reference to the
other genders.

2.6.

A reference to a statute or statutory provision is a reference to it as amended, extended or reenacted from time to time.

2.7.

A reference to a statute or statutory provision shall include all subordinate legislation made from time
to time under that statute or statutory provision.

2.8.

A reference to a regulation includes any regulation, rule, official directive, request or guideline
(whether or not having the force of law) of any governmental, inter-governmental or supranational
body, agency, department or regulatory, self-regulatory or other authority or organisation.

4
M-15817882-1

Page 51

Agenda Item 10

2.9.

A reference to any agreement or document (or any provision of it) referred to in these Articles is a
reference to that agreement or document (or the relevant provision of it) as varied, amended or
supplemented (in each case, other than in breach of the provisions of that agreement or document)
from time to time.

2.10.

Any words following the terms including, include, in particular, for example or any similar
expression shall be construed as illustrative and shall not limit the sense of the words, description,
definition, phrase or term preceding those terms.

2.11.

A reference to an amendment includes a novation, re-enactment, supplement or variation (and
amended shall be construed accordingly).

2.12.

A reference to determines or determined means, unless the contrary is indicated, a determination
made at the absolute discretion of the person making it.

2.13.

References to a month shall be construed as a reference to a period starting on one day in a
calendar month and ending on the day immediately preceding the numerically corresponding day in
the next calendar month or, if there is no numerically corresponding day in the next calendar month,
the last day in the next calendar month.

2.14.

The expressions body corporate, holding company, subsidiary, parent undertaking, subsidiary
undertaking and parent company shall have the respective meanings given in the Companies Act
2006, and, for the purposes of sections 1159(1)(b) and (c) and 1162(2)(b) and (d) of that Act, a
company or undertaking (the first person) shall be treated as a member of another company or
undertaking if:
2.14.1.

any of the first person's subsidiaries or subsidiary undertakings is a member of that other
company or undertaking; or

2.14.2.

any shares or capital interests in that other company or undertaking are held by a person
acting on behalf of the first person or any of its subsidiaries or subsidiary undertakings; or

2.14.3.

any shares or capital interests in that other company or undertaking are registered in the
name of a person (or its nominee) by way of security or in connection with the granting of
security over those shares or capital interests by the first person.
In the case of a limited liability partnership which is (or might constitute) a subsidiary or
subsidiary undertaking of a company or another limited liability partnership, sections 1159
and 1162 of the Companies Act 2006 shall be amended so that:
references in sections 1159(1)(a) and (c) and 1162(2)(a) and (d) to "voting rights" are to
the members' rights to vote on all or substantially all matters which are decided by
a vote of the members of the limited liability partnership; and
references in sections 1159(1)(b) and 1162(2)(b) to the "right to appoint or remove a
majority of its board of directors" is to the right: (i) to appoint or remove a majority
of the directors (or equivalent) of that limited liability partnership; or (ii) if no such
directors (or equivalent) exist by virtue of the constitution of that limited liability
partnership, members holding a majority of the voting rights,
and unless the context otherwise requires, the application of the definitions of body
corporate, holding company, subsidiary, parent undertaking, subsidiary undertaking and
parent company shall apply as to the relevant company or undertaking as it is at that
time.

3.
4.
5.
5
M-15817882-1

Page 52

Agenda Item 10

6.

PART 2 – DIRECTORS

7.

DIRECTORS' POWERS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

8.

DIRECTORS' GENERAL AUTHORITY
Subject to the Articles, the Directors are responsible for the management of the Company's
business, for which purpose they may exercise all the powers of the Company.

9.

SHAREHOLDERS' RESERVE POWER

9.1.

The Shareholders may by special resolution direct the Directors to take, or refrain from taking,
specified action.

9.2.

No such special resolution invalidates anything which the Directors have done before the passing of
the resolution.

10.

DIRECTORS MAY DELEGATE

10.1.

Subject to the Articles, the Directors may delegate any of the powers which are conferred on them
under the Articles as follows:
10.1.1.

to such person or committee;

10.1.2.

by such means (including by power of attorney);

10.1.3.

to such an extent;

10.1.4.

in relation to such matters or territories; and

10.1.5.

on such terms and conditions,

as they think fit.
10.2.

If the Directors so specify, any such delegation may authorise further delegation of the Directors'
powers by any person to whom they are delegated.

10.3.

The Directors may revoke any delegation in whole or part, or alter its terms and conditions.

11.

COMMITTEES

11.1.

Committees to which the Directors delegate any of their powers must follow procedures which are
based as far as they are applicable on those provisions of the Articles which govern the taking of
decisions by Directors.

11.2.

The Directors may make rules of procedure for all or any committees, which prevail over rules
derived from the Articles if they are not consistent with them.

12.

DECISION-MAKING BY DIRECTORS

13.

DIRECTORS TO TAKE DECISIONS COLLECTIVELY

13.1.

The general rule about decision-making by Directors is that any decision of the Directors must be
either a majority decision at a meeting or an unanimous decision taken in accordance with Article 14.

13.2.

If only one Director is eligible to vote on any authorisation required under Article 20, the general rule
does not apply and the Eligible Director may take decisions in relation to the relevant matter without
regard to any of the provisions in the Articles relating to Directors' decision-making.

6
M-15817882-1

Page 53

13.3.

Agenda Item 10

Each Director shall be entitled to cast one vote on any resolution put to the Directors. However, if at
any meeting of the Directors one or more Directors are absent, the Director(s) who are participating
in the meeting and who are appointed by the holders of the same class of Shares as the absent
Director(s) may cast the votes of such absent Director(s), provided that:
13.3.1.

the maximum number of votes able to be cast by those participating Directors (including
their own votes) shall not exceed the number of Directors which the holders of that class
of Shares may at that time appoint (whether or not the relevant Shareholder(s) has
appointed all such Directors);

13.3.2.

those participating Directors may not cast a vote in relation to a Director who was not an
Eligible Director; and

13.3.3.

if two or more participating Directors (who are appointed by the holders of the same class
of Shares as the absent Director(s)) are participating in the Directors' meeting, they may
only cast the votes of the absent Director(s) if those participating Directors agree on how
the vote(s) of those absent Director(s) should be cast.

13.4.

If the numbers of votes for and against a proposal are equal, the Chair shall not have a casting vote
and the proposal shall not be approved.

14.

UNANIMOUS DECISIONS

14.1.

A decision of the Directors is taken in accordance with this Article when all of the Eligible Directors
indicate to each other by any means that they share a common view on a matter.

14.2.

Such a decision may take the form of a resolution in writing, copies of which have been signed by
each Eligible Director or to which each Eligible Director has otherwise indicated agreement in writing.

14.3.

A decision may not be taken in accordance with this Article if the Eligible Directors would not have
formed a quorum at such a meeting.

15.

CALLING A DIRECTORS' MEETING

15.1.

Any Director may call a Directors' meeting by giving notice of the meeting to the Directors in
accordance with Article 15.3 or by authorising the company secretary (if any) to give such notice.

15.2.

A meeting of the Directors must be called by at least 7 days' notice unless either:

15.3.

15.4.

15.2.1.

the Directors unanimously agree otherwise; or

15.2.2.

urgent circumstances require shorter notice.

Notice of any Directors' meeting must include:
15.3.1.

its proposed date and time;

15.3.2.

where it is to take place;

15.3.3.

if it is anticipated that persons participating in the meeting will not be in the same place,
how it is proposed that they should communicate with each other during the meeting;

15.3.4.

an agenda specifying in reasonable detail the matters to be raised at the meeting or the
committee meeting; and

15.3.5.

copies of any papers to be discussed at the meeting or the committee meeting.

Notice of a Directors' meeting need not be given to Directors who waive their entitlement to notice of
that meeting, by giving notice to that effect to the Company not more than 7 days after the date on

7
M-15817882-1

Agenda Item 10

Page 54

which the meeting is held. Where such notice is given after the meeting has been held, that does
not affect the validity of the meeting, or of any business conducted at it.
16.

PARTICIPATION IN DIRECTORS' MEETINGS

16.1.

Subject to the Articles, Directors participate in a Directors' meeting, or part of a Directors' meeting,
when:
16.1.1.

the meeting has been called and takes place in accordance with the Articles; and

16.1.2.

they can each communicate to the others any information or opinions they have on any
particular item of the business of the meeting.

16.2.

In determining whether Directors are participating in a Directors' meeting, it is irrelevant where any
Director is or how they communicate with each other.

16.3.

If all the Directors participating in a meeting are not in the same place, they may decide that the
meeting is to be treated as taking place wherever any of them is.

17.

QUORUM FOR DIRECTORS' MEETINGS

17.1.

At a Directors' meeting, unless a quorum is participating, no proposal is to be voted on, except a
proposal to call another meeting.

17.2.

Subject to Article 13.2, the quorum for Directors' meetings may be fixed from time to time by a
decision of the Directors, but it must never be less than two, and unless otherwise fixed it is two.

17.3.

If the total number of Directors for the time being is less than the quorum required, the Directors
must not take any decision other than a decision:
17.3.1.

to request by notice in writing to the A Shareholder that further A Directors be appointed;
or

17.3.2.

to call a meeting of the B Shareholders so as to enable the B Shareholders to appoint
further B Directors.

17.4.

If a quorum is not present with half an hour from the time appointed for the meeting, or during a
meeting a quorum ceases to be present, the meeting shall be adjourned to such time and place as
the Directors may determine in accordance with the Articles.

18.

CHAIRING OF DIRECTORS' MEETINGS

18.1.

A Director may be appointed as a chairman of the Directors by and for such period as the
Shareholders may determine by ordinary resolution. In the absence of such a chairman being
appointed or otherwise present at a meeting of the Directors within 15 minutes of the time set for the
meeting, the participating Directors may appoint a Director present to chair that meeting. The person
appointed for the time being shall be known as the Chair.

18.2.

Where the Chair is appointed to chair a particular meeting, the Directors may terminate the Chair's
appointment at any time during that meeting.

19.

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST – TRANSACTIONS OR ARRANGEMENTS WITH THE COMPANY

19.1.

The relevant provisions of the Companies Act 2006 (including, without limitation, sections 177 and
182) shall apply in relation to declarations of interest in proposed and existing transactions or
arrangements with the Company.

8
M-15817882-1

Page 55

19.2.

19.3.

19.4.

Agenda Item 10

Provided that he has disclosed to the Directors the nature and extent of any interest of his in
accordance with and to the extent required by the Companies Act 2006, a Director notwithstanding
his office:
19.2.1.

may be a party to, or otherwise interested in, any contract with the Company or a Group
Company of the Company or in which either or both of them is/are otherwise interested;

19.2.2.

may be an elected member, director or other officer of, employed by, a party to any
contract with, or otherwise interested in, a Shareholder, any Group Company of the
Company or in any body corporate promoted by a Shareholder, the Company, or a Group
Company of the Company, or in which any of them is/are interested; and

19.2.3.

may act by himself or his firm in a professional capacity for the Company (otherwise than
as auditor).

For the purposes of this Article 19:
19.3.1.

a Director shall be deemed to have disclosed the nature and extent of an interest which
consists of him being an elected member, director, officer or employee of a Shareholder
or any Group Company of the Company; and

19.3.2.

in all other circumstances, a general notice given to the Directors that a Director is to be
regarded as having an interest of the nature and extent specified in the notice in any
contract in which a specified person or class of persons is interested shall be deemed to
be a disclosure that the Director has an interest in any such contract of the nature and
extent so specified.

Where a Director is an elected member, director, officer, or employee of a Shareholder or a Group
Company of the Company; he:
19.4.1.

may in exercising his independent judgment take into account the success of that
Shareholder or Group Company as well as the success of the Company; and

19.4.2.

shall in the exercise of his duties have a duty of confidentiality to that Shareholder or
Group Company in relation to confidential information of that Shareholder or Group
Company, but he shall not be restricted by any duty of confidentiality to the Company
from providing information to that Shareholder or Group Company except as may be
imposed under Article 20.5.

20.

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST REQUIRING BOARD AUTHORISATION

20.1.

The Directors may authorise any matter which would otherwise involve a Director (a Relevant
Director) breaching his duty under section 175 of the Companies Act 2006 to avoid a situation in
which he has, or can have, a direct or indirect interest that conflicts, or possibly may conflict, with the
interests of the Company (a Conflict).

20.2.

Any Director (including the Relevant Director) may propose that the Relevant Director be authorised
in relation to any matter the subject of a Conflict. Such proposal and any authority given by the
Directors shall be effected in the same way that any other matter may be proposed to and decided
upon by the Directors under the Articles save that the Relevant Director (and any Director) shall not
count towards the quorum nor vote on any resolution giving such authority.

20.3.

Where the Directors give authority in relation to a Conflict:
20.3.1.

the terms of the authority shall be recorded in writing (but the authority shall be effective
whether or not the terms are so recorded); and

20.3.2.

the Directors may revoke or vary such authority at any time but this will not affect
anything done by the Relevant Director prior to such revocation in accordance with the
terms of such authority.
9

M-15817882-1

Agenda Item 10

Page 56

20.4.

A Conflict in relation to a Director arising solely as a result of him being an elected member, director,
officer or employee of a Shareholder or any Group Company of the Company shall be deemed to
have been authorised for the purposes of this Article 20 and section 175 of the Companies Act 2006.

20.5.

Where Article 20.4 above applies or the Directors otherwise gives authority in relation to a Conflict,
or where any of the situations referred to in Article 19 (a Permitted Situation) applies:
20.5.1.

the Directors may (whether at the relevant time or subsequently) (i) require that the
Relevant Director is excluded from the receipt of information, the participation in
discussion and/or the making of decisions (whether at Directors meetings or otherwise)
related to the Conflict or Permitted Situation; and (ii) impose upon the Relevant Director
such other terms for the purpose of dealing with the Conflict as they may determine;

20.5.2.

the Relevant Director will be obliged to conduct himself in accordance with any terms
imposed by the Directors in relation to the Conflict or Permitted Situation; and

20.5.3.

the Directors may provide that where the Relevant Director obtains (otherwise than
through his position as a Director of the Company) information that is confidential to a
third party, the Director will not be obliged to disclose that information to the Company, or
to use or apply the information in relation to the Company's affairs, where to do so would
amount to a breach of that confidence.

20.6.

A Director shall not, by reason of his office or of the fiduciary relationship thereby established, be
liable to account to the Company or the Shareholders for any remuneration, profit or other benefit
realised by reason of his having any type of interest in a Conflict authorised under this Article or in
any Permitted Situation and no contract shall be liable to be avoided on the grounds of a Director
having any such interest.

21.

EFFECT OF DIRECTORS' INTERESTS ON QUORUM AND VOTING

21.1.

Subject where applicable to disclosure in accordance with the Articles and subject to any terms
imposed by the Directors in relation to any Conflict or Permitted Situation, a Director shall be entitled
to vote in respect of any matter in which he is interested directly or indirectly (where that interest
arises by virtue of a Conflict which has been authorised or a Permitted Situation) and if he shall do
so his vote shall be counted and, whether or not he does, his presence at the meeting shall be taken
into account in ascertaining whether a quorum is present.

21.2.

However, a Director shall not be entitled to vote in respect of any other matter in which he is
interested directly or indirectly and his presence at the meeting shall not be taken into account in
ascertaining whether a quorum is present.

21.3.

Subject to Article 21.4 below, if a question arises at a meeting of Directors or of a committee of
Directors as to the right of a Director to participate in the meeting (or part of the meeting) for voting
or quorum purposes, the question may, before the conclusion of the meeting, be referred to the
Chair whose ruling in relation to any Director other than the Chair is to be final and conclusive.

21.4.

If any question as to the right to participate in the meeting (or part of the meeting) should arise in
respect of the Chair, the question is to be decided by a decision of the Directors at that meeting, for
which purpose the Chair is not to be counted as participating in the meeting (or that part of the
meeting) for voting or quorum purposes.

22.

RECORDS OF DECISIONS TO BE KEPT
The Directors must ensure that the Company keeps a record, in writing, for at least ten years from
the date of the decision recorded, of every unanimous or majority decision taken by the Directors.

23.

DIRECTORS' DISCRETION TO MAKE FURTHER RULES
Subject to the Articles, the Directors may make any rule which they think fit about how they take
decisions, and about how such rules are to be recorded or communicated to Directors.
10

M-15817882-1

Page 57

Agenda Item 10

24.

APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS AND TERMINATION OF OFFICE

25.

METHODS OF APPOINTING DIRECTORS

25.1.

Unless otherwise determined by the Directors from time to time, there shall be a minimum of seven
Directors.

25.2.

The A Shareholder shall appoint a minimum of four A Directors by notice in writing to the Company
signed by the A Shareholder Representative (A Directors).

25.3.

A majority of the B Shareholders may appoint up to two Directors, by notice in writing to the
Company signed on behalf of the B Shareholders (B Directors). The B Shareholders shall organise
in such manner as they see fit the means of canvassing opinion between them, voting and notifying
the Company in respect of any appointment and/or removal of the B Directors.

25.4.

The Directors shall appoint one executive director to the role of Managing Director.

26.

TERMINATION OF A DIRECTOR'S APPOINTMENT

26.1.

A person ceases to be a Director as soon as:
26.1.1.

in the case of an A Director, the A Shareholder Representative notifies the Company in
writing that the individual is to be removed as an A Director;

26.1.2.

in the case of a B Director, the majority of the B Shareholder Representatives notify the
Company in writing that the individual is to be removed as a B Director;

26.1.3.

in the case of the Managing Director, the Directors resolve to remove him/her;

26.1.4.

that person ceases to be a Director by virtue of any provision of the Companies Act 2006
or is prohibited from being a Director by law;

26.1.5.

a bankruptcy order is made against that person;

26.1.6.

a composition is made with that person's creditors generally in satisfaction of that
person's debts;

26.1.7.

a registered medical practitioner who is treating that person gives a written opinion to the
Company stating that that person has become physically or mentally incapable of acting
as a Director and may remain so for more than three months; or

26.1.8.

notification is received by the Company from the Director that the Director is resigning
from office, and such resignation has taken effect in accordance with its terms.

27.

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION AND EXPENSES

27.1.

Any remuneration of the Managing Director or any other executive Director shall require the prior
approval of the Shareholders.

27.2.

Any policy regarding expenses of Directors shall require the prior approval of the Shareholders.

28.

PART 3 - SHARES AND DISTRIBUTIONS

29.

SHARES

30.

APPOINTMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS

30.1.

The subscribers to the Memorandum are the first Shareholders.

11
M-15817882-1

Page 58

Agenda Item 10

30.2.

No person shall be admitted as a Shareholder without the unanimous approval of the Shareholders.

30.3.

The Directors must keep a register of names and addresses of the Shareholders.

31.

LIABILITY OF SHAREHOLDERS
The liability of the Shareholders is limited to the amount, if any, unpaid on the Shares held by them.

32.

ALL SHARES TO BE FULLY PAID UP

32.1.

No Share is to be issued for less than the aggregate of its nominal value and any premium to be paid
to the Company in consideration for its issue.

32.2.

This does not apply to Shares taken on the formation of the Company by the subscribers to the
Company's Memorandum.

33.

SHARE CAPITAL

33.1.

Except as otherwise provided in the Articles, the A Shares and the B Shares shall rank pari passu in
all respects but shall constitute separate classes of Shares.

33.2.

Notwithstanding the number of A Shares and B Shares in issue at any given time, the rights
attaching to the A Shares and the B Shares shall be as follows:
33.2.1.

as regards income:
the A Shares shall entitle the holders thereof to receive 75% of the aggregate value of
any dividend or distribution declared, paid or made in respect of those Shares,
apportioned between the A Shareholders in proportion to their respective holdings
of A Shares; and
the B Shares shall entitle the holders thereof to receive 25% of the aggregate value of
any dividend or distribution declared, paid or made in respect of those Shares,
apportioned between the B Shareholders in proportion to their respective holdings
of B Shares;

33.2.2.

as regards capital, on a winding up of the Company or other return of capital:
the A Shares shall entitle the holders thereof to receive 75% of the aggregate value of
any distribution of capital, in the case of a winding up after the payment of creditors
and liabilities, apportioned between the A Shareholders in proportion to their
respective holdings of A Shares; and
the B Shares shall entitle the holders thereof to receive 25% of the aggregate value of
any distribution of capital, in the case of a winding up after the payment of creditors
and liabilities, apportioned between the B Shareholders in proportion to their
respective holdings of B Shares;

33.2.3.

as regards voting:
the A Shares and B Shares shall entitle the holders thereof to receive notice of, attend
and speak at a general meeting of the Company;
the A Shares shall entitle the holders thereof:
on a show of hands, to one vote per holder; and

12
M-15817882-1

Page 59

Agenda Item 10

on a poll, to 75% of the votes exercisable by the holders of the A Shares and the B
Shares (as though they were one class) and each holder of A Shares shall
therefore be entitled to cast the following number of votes:

where "X" is the number of A Shares held by that holder and "Y" is the total
number of A Shares in issue at the time of the vote; and
the B Shares shall entitle the holders thereof:
on a show of hands, to one vote per holder; and
on a poll, to 25% of the votes exercisable by the holders of the A Shares and the B
Shares (as though they were one class) and each holder of B Shares shall
therefore be entitled to cast the following number of votes:

where "X" is the number of B Shares held by that holder and "Y" is the total
number of B Shares in issue at the time of the vote.
33.3.

The rights conferred on each of the holders of the A Shares and on each of the holders of the B
Shares shall be deemed to be varied by:
33.3.1.

the creation or issue of any further shares (whether ranking equally, in priority to them or
subsequent to them);

33.3.2.

any reduction, subdivision, consolidation, redenomination, purchase, redemption or other
alteration by the Company of the Company's share capital; or

33.3.3.

any amendment to the Articles.

33.4.

The rights attached to any class of Shares may from time to time, whether or not the Company is
being wound up, be varied or abrogated with the consent in writing of the holders of not less that
75% in nominal value of the issued Shares of that class or with the sanction of a special resolution
passed at a separate meeting of the holders of that class of Shares, but not otherwise.

33.5.

The provisions of the Articles relating to general meetings of the Company or to their proceedings
(and adjournments) shall, with the necessary changes being made, apply to every separate meeting
of the holders of any class of Share, except that:
33.5.1.

the necessary quorum shall be such number of persons holding or representing by proxy
at least one third in nominal amount of the issued Shares of that class;

33.5.2.

every holder of Shares of the class present in person or by proxy shall be entitled on a
poll to one vote for every such Share held by it; and

33.5.3.

any holder of Shares of the class present in person or by proxy may demand a poll.

33.6.

No Share of a class, nor any right to subscribe for or to convert any security into a Share of that
class, shall be allotted or granted otherwise than to a Shareholder holding that class of Share.

34.

ISSUE OF SHARES

13
M-15817882-1

Page 60

Agenda Item 10

34.1.

Subject to the Articles, but without prejudice to the rights attached to any existing Share, the
Company may issue Shares with such rights or restrictions as may be determined by ordinary
resolution.

34.2.

The Company may issue Shares which are to be redeemed, or are liable to be redeemed at the
option of the Company or the holder of such Shares, and the Directors may determine the terms,
conditions and manner of redemption of any such Shares.

34.3.

The Directors shall be generally and unconditionally authorised for the purposes of section 551 of
the Companies Act 2006 to exercise all the powers of the Company to allot (or grant rights to
subscribe for or to convert any security into) shares up to an aggregate nominal amount of £100 in
the share capital of the Company during the period from the date of adoption of the Articles until the
fifth anniversary of that date unless the authority is varied or revoked or renewed by the Company in
general meeting, provided that this authority shall entitle the Directors to make at any time before the
expiry of this authority an offer or agreement which will or may require relevant securities to be
allotted after the expiry of the authority.

34.4.

Sections 561 and 562 of the Companies Act 2006 shall not apply the Company

35.

COMPANY NOT BOUND BY LESS THAN ABSOLUTE INTERESTS
Except as required by law, no person is to be recognised by the Company as holding any Share
upon any trust, and except as otherwise required by law or the Articles, the Company is not in any
way to be bound by or recognise any interest in a Share other than the Shareholder's absolute
ownership of it and all the rights attaching to it.

36.

SHARE CERTIFICATES

36.1.

The Company must issue each Shareholder, free of charge, with one or more certificates in respect
of the Shares which that Shareholder holds.

36.2.

Every certificate must specify:
36.2.1.

in respect of how many Shares, of what class, it is issued;

36.2.2.

the nominal value of those Shares;

36.2.3.

that the Shares are fully paid; and

36.2.4.

any distinguishing numbers assigned to them.

36.3.

No certificate may be issued in respect of Shares of more than one class.

36.4.

If more than one person holds a Share, only one certificate may be issued in respect of it.

36.5.

Certificates must be executed in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

37.

REPLACEMENT SHARE CERTIFICATES

37.1.

If a certificate issued in respect of a Shareholder's Shares is:
37.1.1.

damaged or defaced; or

37.1.2.

said to be lost, stolen or destroyed,

that Shareholder is entitled to be issued with a replacement certificate in respect of the same
Shares.
37.2.

A Shareholder exercising the right to be issued with such a replacement certificate:

14
M-15817882-1

Page 61

Agenda Item 10

37.2.1.

may at the same time exercise the right to be issued with a single certificate or separate
certificates;

37.2.2.

must return the certificate which is to be replaced to the Company if it is damaged or
defaced; and

37.2.3.

must comply with such conditions as to evidence, indemnity and the payment of a
reasonable fee as the Directors decide.

38.

GENERAL SHARE TRANSFERS

38.1.

Shares may be transferred by means of an Instrument of transfer in any usual form or any other form
approved by the Directors, which is executed by or on behalf of the transferor.

38.2.

No fee may be charged for registering any Instrument of transfer or other Document relating to or
affecting the title to any Share.

38.3.

The Company may retain any Instrument of transfer which is registered.

38.4.

The transferor remains the Shareholder until the transferee's name is entered in the register of
members as holder of the Share(s) being transferred.

38.5.

The Directors may refuse to register the transfer of a Share, and if they do so, the Instrument of
transfer must be returned to the transferee with the notice of refusal unless they suspect that the
proposed transfer may be fraudulent.

38.6.

On the transfer of any Share as permitted by the Articles:
38.6.1.

a Share transferred to a non-Shareholder shall remain a Share of the same class as
before the transfer; and

38.6.2.

a Share of one class transferred to a Shareholder holding the other class of Shares shall
automatically be redesignated on transfer as a Share of the same class as those already
held by the transferee.

38.7.

If no Shares of a class remain in issue following a redesignation, the Articles shall be read as if they
do not include any reference to that class or to any consents from, or attendance at any meeting or
votes to be cast by, Shareholders of that class or Directors appointed by that class.

38.8.

No variation of the rights attaching to any class of Shares shall be effective except with the sanction
of a special resolution of the holders of the relevant class of Shares. Where a special resolution to
vary the rights attaching to a class of Shares is proposed at a separate general meeting of that class
of Shares, all the provisions of the Articles as to general meetings of the Company shall mutatis
mutandis apply, but so that the necessary quorum shall be one holder of the relevant class present
in person or by proxy or (being a corporation) by a duly authorised representative.

39.

DIVIDENDS AND OTHER DISTRIBUTIONS

40.

PROCEDURE FOR DECLARING DIVIDENDS

40.1.

The Company may by ordinary resolution declare dividends, and the Directors may decide to pay
interim dividends.

40.2.

A dividend must not be declared unless the Directors have made a recommendation as to its
amount. Such a dividend must not exceed the amount recommended by the Directors.

40.3.

No dividend may be declared or paid unless it is in accordance with Shareholders' respective rights.

15
M-15817882-1

Page 62

Agenda Item 10

40.4.

Unless the Shareholders' resolution to declare or Directors' decision to pay a dividend, or the terms
on which Shares are issued, specify otherwise, it must be paid by reference to each Shareholder's
holding of Shares on the date of the resolution or decision to declare or pay it.

40.5.

If the Company's share capital is divided into different classes, no interim dividend may be paid on
Shares carrying deferred or non-preferred rights if, at the time of payment, any preferential dividend
is in arrear.

40.6.

The Directors may pay at intervals any dividend payable at a fixed rate if it appears to them that the
profits available for distribution justify the payment.

40.7.

If the Directors act in good faith, they do not incur any liability to the holders of Shares conferring
preferred rights for any loss they may suffer by the lawful payment of an interim dividend on Shares
with deferred or non-preferred rights.

41.

PAYMENT OF DIVIDENDS AND OTHER DISTRIBUTIONS

41.1.

Where a dividend or other sum which is a distribution is payable in respect of a Share, it must be
paid by one or more of the following means:

41.2.

41.1.1.

transfer to a bank or building society account specified by the Distribution Recipient either
in writing or as the Directors may otherwise decide;

41.1.2.

sending a cheque made payable to the Distribution Recipient by post to the Distribution
Recipient at the Distribution Recipient's registered address (if the Distribution Recipient is
a Shareholder), or (in any other case) to an address specified by the Distribution
Recipient either in writing or as the Directors may otherwise decide;

41.1.3.

sending a cheque made payable to such person by post to such person at such address
as the Distribution Recipient has specified either in writing or as the Directors may
otherwise decide; or

41.1.4.

any other means of payment as the Directors agree with the Distribution Recipient either
in writing or by such other means as the Directors decide.

In the Articles, the Distribution Recipient means, in respect of a Share in respect of which a
dividend or other sum is payable:
41.2.1.

the Shareholder; or

41.2.2.

if the Share has two or more joint holders, whichever of them is named first in the register
of members.

42.

NO INTEREST ON DISTRIBUTIONS

42.1.

The Company may not pay interest on any dividend or other sum payable in respect of a Share
unless otherwise provided by:
42.1.1.

the terms on which the Share was issued; or

42.1.2.

the provisions of another agreement between the Shareholder and the Company.

43.

UNCLAIMED DISTRIBUTIONS

43.1.

All dividends or other sums which are:
43.1.1.

payable in respect of Shares; and

43.1.2.

unclaimed after having been declared or become payable,

16
M-15817882-1

Page 63

Agenda Item 10

may be invested or otherwise made use of by the Directors for the benefit of the Company until
claimed.
43.2.

The payment of any such dividend or other sum into a separate account does not make the
Company a trustee in respect of it.

43.3.

If:
43.3.1.

twelve years have passed from the date on which a dividend or other sum became due
for payment; and

43.3.2.

the Distribution Recipient has not claimed it,

the Distribution Recipient is no longer entitled to that dividend or other sum and it ceases to remain
owing by the Company.
44.

NON-CASH DISTRIBUTIONS

44.1.

Subject to the terms of issue of the Share in question, the Company may, by ordinary resolution on
the recommendation of the Directors, decide to pay all or part of a dividend or other distribution
payable in respect of a Share by transferring non-cash assets of equivalent value (including, without
limitation, Shares or other securities in any company).

44.2.

For the purposes of paying a non-cash distribution, the Directors may make whatever arrangements
they think fit, including, where any difficulty arises regarding the distribution:
44.2.1.

fixing the value of any assets;

44.2.2.

paying cash to any Distribution Recipient on the basis of that value in order to adjust the
rights of recipients; and

44.2.3.

vesting any assets in trustees.

45.

WAIVER OF DISTRIBUTIONS

45.1.

Distribution Recipients may waive their entitlement to a dividend or other distribution payable in
respect of a Share by giving the Company notice in writing to that effect, but if the Share has more
than one holder the notice is not effective unless it is expressed to be given, and signed, by all the
holders or persons otherwise entitled to the Share.

46.

CAPITALISATION OF PROFITS

47.

AUTHORITY TO CAPITALISE AND APPROPRIATION OF CAPITALISED SUMS

47.1.

Subject to the Articles, the Directors may, if they are so authorised by an ordinary resolution:

47.2.

47.1.1.

decide to capitalise any profits of the Company (whether or not they are available for
distribution) which are not required for paying a preferential dividend, or any sum
standing to the credit of the Company's share premium account or capital redemption
reserve; and

47.1.2.

appropriate any sum which they so decide to capitalise (a capitalised sum) to the persons
who would have been entitled to it if it were distributed by way of dividend (the persons
entitled) and in the same proportions.

Capitalised sums must be applied:
47.2.1.

on behalf of the persons entitled; and

17
M-15817882-1

Page 64

Agenda Item 10

47.2.2.

in the same proportions as a dividend would have been distributed to them.

47.3.

Any capitalised sum may be applied in paying up new Shares of a nominal amount equal to the
capitalised sum which are then allotted credited as fully paid to the persons entitled or as they may
direct.

47.4.

A capitalised sum which was appropriated from profits available for distribution may be applied in
paying up new debentures of the Company which are then allotted credited as fully paid to the
persons entitled or as they may direct.

47.5.

Subject to the Articles, the Directors may:
47.5.1.

apply capitalised sums in accordance with Articles 47.3 and 47.4 partly in one way and
partly in another;

47.5.2.

make such arrangements as they think fit to deal with Shares or debentures becoming
distributable in fractions under this Article (including the issuing of fractional certificates or
the making of cash payments); and

47.5.3.

authorise any person to enter into an agreement with the Company on behalf of all the
persons entitled which is binding on them in respect of the allotment of Shares and
debentures to them under this Article.

48.

PART 4 - DECISION-MAKING BY SHAREHOLDERS

49.

ORGANISATION OF GENERAL MEETINGS

50.

GENERAL MEETINGS

50.1.

Notice of a general meeting shall be given in Hard Copy Form, in Electronic Form or by means of a
website, provided that the Company complies with any requirements relating to the giving of notice
under the Companies Act 2006.

50.2.

Notice of a general meeting shall be sent to each Shareholder, every Director and any other person
required by law to be sent such notice.

50.3.

Notice of a general meeting shall:
50.3.1.

be in writing;

50.3.2.

state the time, date and place of the meeting;

50.3.3.

specify the general nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting and set out the
text of any special resolution to be voted upon at the meeting; and

50.3.4.

be accompanied by a proxy form.

50.4.

The accidental omission to give notice of a general meeting to, or the non-receipt of notice by, any
person entitled to receive the notice; or a technical defect in the timing or manner of giving such
notice of which the Directors are unaware shall not invalidate the proceedings of that meeting.

51.

ATTENDANCE AND SPEAKING AT GENERAL MEETINGS

51.1.

A person is able to exercise the right to speak at a general meeting when that person is in a position
to communicate to all those attending the meeting, during the meeting, any information or opinions
which that person has on the business of the meeting.

51.2.

A person is able to exercise the right to vote at a general meeting when:

18
M-15817882-1

Page 65

Agenda Item 10

51.2.1.

that person is able to vote, during the meeting, on resolutions put to the vote at the
meeting; and

51.2.2.

that person's vote can be taken into account in determining whether or not such
resolutions are passed at the same time as the votes of all the other persons attending
the meeting.

51.3.

The Directors may make whatever arrangements they consider appropriate to enable those
attending a general meeting to exercise their rights to speak or vote at it.

51.4.

In determining attendance at a general meeting, it is immaterial whether any two or more members
attending it are in the same place as each other.

51.5.

Two or more persons who are not in the same place as each other attend a general meeting if their
circumstances are such that if they have (or were to have) rights to speak and vote at that meeting,
they are (or would be) able to exercise them.

51.6.

The following provisions apply to any Shareholder that is not a natural person:

52.

51.6.1.

a Shareholder may nominate one natural person to act as its representative (an
Authorised Representative) at any meeting of the Company;

51.6.2.

the Shareholder must give notice in writing to the Company of the names of its
Authorised Representative. Notice may be given at the first meeting the person
purporting to be an Authorised Representative attends. An Authorised Representative
will not be entitled to represent the Shareholder at any meeting of the Company unless
such notice has been received by the Company. An Authorised Representative may
continue to represent the Shareholder until notice in writing is received by the Company
to the contrary;

51.6.3.

a Shareholder may appoint an Authorised Representative to represent it at a particular
meeting of the Company or at all meetings of the Company until notice in writing to the
contrary is received by the Company;

51.6.4.

any notice in writing received by the Company shall be conclusive evidence of the
Authorised Representative's authority to represent the Shareholder concerned or that his
or her authority has been revoked. The Company shall not be required to consider
whether the Authorised Representative has been properly appointed by the Shareholder;

51.6.5.

an individual appointed by a Shareholder to act as its Authorised Representative is
entitled to exercise (on behalf of the Shareholder) the same powers as the Shareholder
could exercise if it were a natural person;

51.6.6.

the power to appoint an Authorised Representative under this Article is without prejudice
to any rights which the Shareholder has under the Companies Acts and the Articles to
appoint a proxy or a corporate representative.

QUORUM FOR GENERAL MEETINGS
No business other than the appointment of the Chair of the Meeting is to be transacted at a general
meeting unless the A Shareholder and the holders of at least one sixth in nominal amount of the
issued B Shares are present (in person or by proxy).

53.

CHAIRING GENERAL MEETINGS

53.1.

The Chair shall chair general meetings if present and willing to do so.

53.2.

If the Chair is unwilling to chair the meeting or is not present within ten minutes of the time at which a
meeting was due to start:

19
M-15817882-1

Page 66

Agenda Item 10

53.2.1.

the Directors present; or

53.2.2.

(if no Directors are present) the meeting,

must appoint a Director or Shareholder to chair the meeting, and the appointment of the Chair of the
meeting must be the first business of the meeting.
53.3.

The person chairing a meeting in accordance with this Article is referred to as the Chair of the
Meeting.

54.

ATTENDANCE AND SPEAKING BY DIRECTORS AND NON-SHAREHOLDERS

54.1.

Directors may attend and speak at general meetings, whether or not they are Shareholders.

54.2.

The Chair of the Meeting may permit other persons who are not:
54.2.1.

Shareholders; or

54.2.2.

otherwise entitled to exercise the rights of Shareholders in relation to general meetings,
to attend and speak at a general meeting.

55.

ADJOURNMENT

55.1.

If the persons attending a general meeting within half an hour of the time at which the meeting was
due to start do not constitute a quorum, or if during a meeting a quorum ceases to be present, the
Chair of the Meeting must adjourn it.

55.2.

The Chair of the meeting may adjourn a general meeting at which a quorum is present if:
55.2.1.

the meeting consents to an adjournment; or

55.2.2.

it appears to the Chair of the Meeting that an adjournment is necessary to protect the
safety of any person attending the meeting or ensure that the business of the meeting is
conducted in an orderly manner.

55.3.

The Chair of the Meeting must adjourn a general meeting if directed to do so by the meeting.

55.4.

When adjourning a general meeting, the Chair of the Meeting must:

55.5.

55.4.1.

either specify the time and place to which it is adjourned or state that it is to continue at a
time and place to be fixed by the Directors; and

55.4.2.

have regard to any directions as to the time and place of any adjournment which have
been given by the meeting.

If the continuation of an adjourned meeting is to take place more than 14 days after it was adjourned,
the Company must give at least 7 clear days' notice of it (that is, excluding the day of the adjourned
meeting and the day on which the notice is given):
55.5.1.

to the same persons to whom notice of the Company's general meetings is required to be
given; and

55.5.2.

containing the same information which such notice is required to contain.

55.6.

No business may be transacted at an adjourned general meeting which could not properly have
been transacted at the meeting if the adjournment had not taken place.

56.

VOTING AT GENERAL MEETINGS

20
M-15817882-1

Page 67

57.

Agenda Item 10

VOTING: GENERAL
A resolution put to the vote of a general meeting must be decided on a show of hands unless a poll
is duly demanded in accordance with the Articles.

58.

ERRORS AND DISPUTES

58.1.

No objection may be raised to the qualification of any person voting at a general meeting except at
the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the vote objected to is tendered, and every vote not
disallowed at the meeting is valid.

58.2.

Any such objection must be referred to the Chairman of the meeting, whose decision is final.

59.

POLL VOTES

59.1.

A poll on a resolution may be demanded:

59.2.

59.3.

59.1.1.

in advance of the general meeting where it is to be put to the vote; or

59.1.2.

at a general meeting, either before a show of hands on that resolution or immediately
after the result of a show of hands on that resolution is declared.

A poll may be demanded by:
59.2.1.

the Chair of the Meeting;

59.2.2.

the Directors;

59.2.3.

two or more persons having the right to vote on the resolution; or

59.2.4.

a person or persons representing not less than one tenth of the total voting rights of all
the Shareholders having the right to vote on the resolution if it were conducted on a poll.

A demand for a poll may be withdrawn if:
59.3.1.

the poll has not yet been taken; and

59.3.2.

the Chair of the Meeting consents to the withdrawal.

59.4.

Polls must be taken immediately and in such manner as the Chair of the Meeting directs.

60.

CONTENT OF PROXY NOTICES

60.1.

Proxies may only validly be appointed by a notice in writing (a Proxy Notice) which:

60.2.

60.1.1.

states the name and address of the Shareholder appointing the proxy;

60.1.2.

identifies the person appointed to be that Shareholder's proxy and the general meeting in
relation to which that person is appointed;

60.1.3.

is signed by or on behalf of the Shareholder appointing the proxy, or is authenticated in
such manner as the Directors may determine; and

60.1.4.

is delivered to the Company in accordance with the Articles and any instructions
contained in the notice of the general meeting to which they relate.

The Company may require Proxy Notices to be delivered in a particular form, and may specify
different forms for different purposes.

21
M-15817882-1

Page 68

Agenda Item 10

60.3.

Proxy notices may specify how the proxy appointed under them is to vote (or that the proxy is to
abstain from voting) on one or more resolutions.

60.4.

Unless a Proxy Notice indicates otherwise, it must be treated as:
60.4.1.

allowing the person appointed under it as a proxy discretion as to how to vote on any
ancillary or procedural resolutions put to the meeting; and

60.4.2.

appointing that person as a proxy in relation to any adjournment of the general meeting to
which it relates as well as the meeting itself.

61.

DELIVERY OF PROXY NOTICES

61.1.

A person who is entitled to attend, speak or vote (either on a show of hands or on a poll) at a general
meeting remains so entitled in respect of that meeting or any adjournment of it, even though a valid
Proxy Notice has been delivered to the Company by or on behalf of that person.

61.2.

An appointment under a Proxy Notice may be revoked by delivering to the Company a notice in
writing given by or on behalf of the person by whom or on whose behalf the Proxy Notice was given.

61.3.

A notice revoking a proxy appointment only takes effect if it is delivered before the start of the
meeting or adjourned meeting to which it relates.

61.4.

If a Proxy Notice is not executed by the person appointing the proxy, it must be accompanied by
written evidence of the authority of the person who executed it to execute it on the appointor's
behalf.

62.

AMENDMENTS TO RESOLUTIONS

62.1.

An ordinary resolution to be proposed at a general meeting may be amended by ordinary resolution
if:

62.2.

62.1.1.

notice of the proposed amendment is given to the Company in writing by a person
entitled to vote at the general meeting at which it is to be proposed not less than 48 hours
before the meeting is to take place (or such later time as the Chair of the Meeting may
determine); and

62.1.2.

the proposed amendment does not, in the reasonable opinion of the Chairman of the
meeting, materially alter the scope of the resolution.

A special resolution to be proposed at a general meeting may be amended by ordinary resolution, if:
62.2.1.

the Chair of the Meeting proposes the amendment at the general meeting at which the
resolution is to be proposed; and

62.2.2.

the amendment does not go beyond what is necessary to correct a grammatical or other
non-substantive error in the resolution.

62.3.

If the Chair of the Meeting, acting in good faith, wrongly decides that an amendment to a resolution
is out of order, the Chair's error does not invalidate the vote on that resolution.

63.

PART 5 - ADMINISTRATIVE ARRANGEMENTS

64.

MEANS OF COMMUNICATION TO BE USED

64.1.

Subject to the Articles, anything sent or supplied by or to the Company under the Articles may be
sent or supplied in any way in which the Companies Act 2006 provides for Documents or information
which are authorised or required by any provision of that Act to be sent or supplied by or to the
Company.

22
M-15817882-1

Page 69

Agenda Item 10

64.2.

Subject to the Articles, any notice or Document to be sent or supplied to a Director in connection with
the taking of decisions by Directors may also be sent or supplied by the means by which that
Director has asked to be sent or supplied with such notices or Documents for the time being.

64.3.

A Director may agree with the Company that notices or Documents sent to that Director in a
particular way are to be deemed to have been received within a specified time of their being sent,
and for the specified time to be less than 48 hours.

65.

COMPANY SEALS

65.1.

Any common seal may only be used by the authority of the Directors.

65.2.

The Directors may decide by what means and in what form any common seal is to be used.

65.3.

Unless otherwise decided by the Directors, if the Company has a common seal and it is affixed to a
Document, the Document must also be signed by at least one authorised person in the presence of
a witness who attests the signature.

65.4.

For the purposes of this Article, an authorised person is:
65.4.1.

any Director;

65.4.2.

the company secretary (if any); or

65.4.3.

any person authorised by the Directors for the purpose of signing Documents to which
the common seal is applied.

66.

RIGHT TO INSPECT ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECORDS

66.1.

Each A Shareholder Representative and B Shareholder Representative shall have the right on giving
to the Company reasonable advance notice, during normal business hours to inspect the books and
records of the Company.

67.

APPOINTMENT OF COMPANY SECRETARY
The Directors may appoint (and remove) the company secretary.

68.

PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEES ON CESSATION OF BUSINESS
The Directors may decide to make provision for the benefit of persons employed or formerly
employed by the Company or any of its subsidiaries (other than a Director or former Director or
shadow Director) in connection with the cessation or transfer to any person of the whole or part of
the undertaking of the Company or that subsidiary.

69.

DIRECTORS' INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE

70.

INDEMNITY

70.1.

Subject to Article 70.2, a relevant Director of the Company or an associated company may be
indemnified out of the Company's assets against:
70.1.1.

any liability incurred by that Director in connection with any negligence, default, breach of
duty or breach of trust in relation to the Company or an associated company;

70.1.2.

any liability incurred by that Director in connection with the activities of the Company or
an associated company in its capacity as a trustee of an occupational pension scheme
(as defined in section 235(6) of the Companies Act 2006); and

23
M-15817882-1

Page 70

Agenda Item 10

70.1.3.

any other liability incurred by that Director as an officer of the Company or an associated
company.

70.2.

This Article does not authorise any indemnity which would be prohibited or rendered void by any
provision of the Companies Acts or by any other provision of law.

70.3.

In this Article:
70.3.1.

companies are associated if one is a subsidiary of the other or both are subsidiaries of
the same body corporate; and

70.3.2.

a relevant Director means any Director or former Director of the Company or an
associated company.

71.

INSURANCE

71.1.

The Directors may decide to purchase and maintain insurance, at the expense of the Company, for
the benefit of any relevant Director in respect of any relevant loss.

71.2.

In this Article:
71.2.1.

a relevant Director means any Director or former Director of the Company or an
associated company;

71.2.2.

a relevant loss means any loss or liability which has been or may be incurred by a
relevant Director in connection with that Director's duties or powers in relation to the
Company, any associated company or any pension fund or employees' share scheme of
the Company or associated company; and

71.2.3.

companies are associated if one is a subsidiary of the other or both are subsidiaries of
the same body corporate.

24
M-15817882-1

